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PROCEEDINGS RESUME ON 13 NOVEMBER 2020  

CHAIRPERSON:    Good morn ing  Mr  Kennedy,  good  

morn ing  eve rybody.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Good morn ing  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes are  we ready? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   We are  ready thank you Cha i r.   But  

be fore  we ca l l  o r  ask  leave to  ca l l  the  next  w i tness Cha i r  

may I  ra ise  a  po in t  tha t  fo l lows f rom yesterday ’s  

p roceed ings?  You w i l l  reca l l  our  f i rs t  w i tness yeste rday  

was Mr  Sad ik  a  cur ren t  ac t ing  GCEO of  the  Dene l  g roup  10 

and he under took to  p rov ide  by  way o f  an  a f f idav i t  the  

se t t lement  agreement  tha t  was conc luded between Dene l  

and Ms A f r i ca  the  fo rmer  Company Secre tary  o f  Dene l .  

 That  under tak ing  has now been fu l f i l l ed  and he has  

prov ided an a f f idav i t .   May I  take  you in  Bund le  12  –  Dene l  

Bund le  12  the  suppor t  s ta f f  have taken the  l iber t y  o f  

inse r t ing  in to  Bund le  12 .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh.   What  page?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   The a f f idav i t .   I t  i s  a t  page 665.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes I  have got  i t .  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   That  i s  a  very  br i e f  a f f idav i t  f rom Mr  

Sad ik .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   The one he p romised yesterday.   And 

a t tached to  tha t  i s  a  document  headed Not i f i ca t ion  o f  
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Terminat ion  o f  Serv i ce .   And fo l l ow ing tha t  f rom page 669 

is  the  ac tua l  te rm inat ion  o f  employment  ag reement .   Th i s  i s  

the  se t t lement  ag reement  tha t  he  re fer red  to .    

 And i f  I  may draw your  a t ten t ion  Cha i r  in  pa r t i cu la r  

to  page 676 paragraph 7 .1  se ts  ou t  the  package equ iva len t  

to  twe lve  months  sa la ry,  an  ex  gra t ia  amount  o f  R1.6  odd 

mi l l ion   so  i t  i s  R1.  –  yes R1.642 mi l l ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   In  her  case.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   May we then ask  leave to  have tha t  

admi t ted  fo rmer l y  as  an  Exh ib i t  in  the  commiss ion?  Mr  

Sad ik ’s  a f f idav i t  was prev ious ly  admi t ted  as  Exh ib i t  W26 

we wou ld  ask  the  –  leave fo r  th is  a f f idav i t  w i th  i t s  

annexures f rom page 665 to  be  admi t ted  as  Exh ib i t  W26.1 .  

CHAIRPERSON:   The a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  Ta l ib  Sad ik  s ta r t ing  a t  

page 665 is  admi t ted  as  Exh ib i t  W26.1  together  w i th  i t s  

annexures.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Cha i r.   May we then ask  

your  leave to  ca l l  our  next  w i tness?  I t  i s  Mr  Mantsha.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay.   P lease admin i s te r  the  oa th .   

Good morn ing  Mr  Mantsha.   Good morn ing .   Yes.  

REGISTRAR:   P lease s ta te  your  fu l l  names fo r  the  record .  

MR MANTSHA:   My names are  Lung isan i  Dan ie l  Mantsha.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you have any  ob jec t ion  to  tak ing  the  
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p rescr ibed a f f i rmat ion?  

MR MANTSHA:   No.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you so lemnly  a f f i rm tha t  the  ev idence 

you w i l l  g i ve  w i l l  be  the  t ru th ;  the  who le  t ru th  and noth ing  

e lse  bu t  the  t ru th ;  i f  so  p lease ra ise  your  r igh t  hand and  

say,  I  t ru ly  a f f i rm.  

MR MANTSHA:   I  t ru ly  a f f i rm.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you;  you may be seated.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Cha i r.   May I  d i rec t  you r  

a t ten t ion  to  the  fac t  tha t  Mr  Mantsha is  today ass i s ted  by  a  10 

lega l  team o f  our  learned f r iend Mr  Jaap C i l l i e rs .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   F rom the  Pre tor ia  Bar  ins t ruc ted  by  

a t to rneys Denga.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Mr  C i l l i e rs  wou ld  you l i ke  to  p lace  

yourse l f  on  reco rd  jus t  f rom where  you a re?  

ADV CILLIERS SC:    As  you p lease Cha i r.   I  am indeed the  

JG Ci l l ie rs  I  am a  sen ior  counse l  f rom Pre to r ia .   I  am 

ins t ruc ted  by  my learned a t to rney who is  s i t t ing  on  my le f t  

hand s ide  Mr  Denga on beha l f  o f  the  w i tness.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Thank you ve ry  much Mr  C i l l i e rs .   

Yes Mr  Kennedy.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Cha i r.   My lea rned f r iend 

has requested an oppor tun i ty  fo r  the  w i tness to  address  

you br ie f l y  in  some in t roducto ry  remarks .  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Where  i s  sub jec t  to  your  gu idance 

and ru l ing .  We have no ob jec t ion  to  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I t  i s  our  p rocess.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes no  tha t  i s  f ine .   Mr  Mantsha you may  

address me.   Yes  you may do so .  

MR MANTSHA:   Thank you Cha i r.   I  appear  be fore  you  

Cha i r  as  the  fo rmer  Cha i rpe rson o f  Dene l  board .   So I  am 

go ing  to  speak as  fa r  as  the  ac t s ,  dec i s ions o f  the  board 10 

tha t  I  led  as  a  Cha i r  and I  se rve  as  a  non-execut ive  

d i rec tor  as  taken  as  fa r  as  i t  re la tes  to  i ssues wh ich  have  

been invest iga ted  by  th is  commiss ion .  

 To  the  best  o f  my  ab i l i t i es  I  w i l l  t ry  to  reca l l .   As  we 

know th is  i s  f i ve  years  ago.   I  m igh t  no t  have  cer ta in  

de ta i l s .  When you hear  me ta lk ing  about  we I  wou ld  be  

re fer r i ng  to  the  co l leagues tha t  I  served w i th  a t  the  board .  

 And I  w i l l  a lso  dea l  w i th  any mat te r  tha t  m ight  re la te  

to  me in  my persona l  capac i ty.   So I  th ink  i t  i s  impor tan t  to  

p lace  a  number  o f  i ssues in to  perspect ive  to  g ive  the  20 

Cha i rperson the  contex t  and to  g i ve  the  commiss ion  lega l  

team the  contex t .  

 I  th ink  we a l l  know the  –  some o f  the  dec is ions  

taken.   They were  in  the  med ia  and there  were  a  lo t  o f  

specu la t ion  about  what  cou ld  have been the  mot ives .  
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 I  th ink  jus t  to  s ta r t  le t  me exp la in  the  fo rmat ion  o f  

what  i s  known as  Dene l  As ia .   And I  do  so  Cha i rpe rson on  

the  bas i s  o f  the  in fo rmat ion  w i th in  my knowledge and the  

in fo rmat ion  wh ich  I  –  i t  has  been re layed to  me.  

 For  a  s ta r t  Dene l  went  to  Ind ia  on  i t s  own twenty  

years  or  more  be fore  my appo in tment  as  a  board  

cha i rperson and my board  in  2015 .  But  what  then happened  

Dene l  go t  b lack l i s ted  in  Ind ia  and  reasons be ing  they were  

accused o f  engag ing  in  i l l ega l  ac t i v i t ies  in te r  a l ia  

cor rup t ion  and br ibery.  10 

 So ever  s ince  then there  has been l i t iga t ion  

be tween the  au thor i t ies  in  Ind ia  and Dene l  as  a  resu l t  o f  

those a l legat ions.    

 My unders tand ing  is  o f  course  the  au thor i t ies  in  

Ind ia  and here  they had d iscuss ions to  t ry  to  reso lve  the  

mat te r.   The mat te r  was a l so  in  the  Supreme Cour t  in  Ind ia  

and tha t  l i t i ga t ion  dragged fo r  a  long t ime.  

 So as  fa r  as  twenty  or  twenty  f i ve  years  be fore  my 

ar r i va l  Dene l  had ta rge ted the  Ind ian  market   They went  

there  bu t  f rom what  I  unders tand they went  w i th  the  wrong  20 

way.  

 Dur ing  the  February  20  –  I  th in  2015 as  I  

unders tand the  l i t iga t ion  and the  d ispute  be tween the  

au thor i t ies  he re  and Ind ia  I  th ink  came to  c lose  –  I  m ight  

no t  be  ab le  to  re la te  the  da te  or  the  year  whether  i t  was  
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2014 or  2015.    

 So when tha t  ma t te r  was reso lved  I  th ink  February  

2015 Dene l  sent  a  de legat ion  to  Ind ia  to  jus t  t ry  to  fee l  the  

s i tua t ion  s ince  a t  tha t  s tage in  February  2014 the  mat te rs  

were  reso lved.   And Cha i r  as  I  have taken the  pos i t ion  f rom 

Ju ly  I  am not  sure  about  the  da te  bu t  Ju l y  2015.  

CHAIRPERSON:   June/Ju l y  2015.  

MR MANTSHA:   Ja .   So the  process a t  tha t  s tage in  

February  to  engage tha t  market  we were  no t  there .   Then 

dur ing  the  induc t ion  as  a  new board  the  induct ions are  10 

normal ly  p resented by  the  Execu t ive  Management  o f  the  

company and the  leadersh ip  o f  the  depar tment .    

 O f  course  the  depar tment  w i l l  take  you th rough the  

pro toco ls ,  the  regu la tory  env i ronment  as  fa r  as  the  

company re la tes  to  them and o f  course  the  management  

w i l l  take  you th rough the  s t ra teg ic  i ssue,  the  d i rec t ion  

where  the  company is  go ing  to  go  and a l l  sor ts  o f  th ings.  

 A t  tha t  po in t  I  do  no t  remember  exact ly  who has  

handed to  me a  document  ca l led  Not  Verba l .   Not  Verba l  i s  

a  d ip lomat ic  language.  A communica t ion  be tween one s ta te  20 

to  another  and tha t  document  s imp ly  say we l l  the  d ispute  

be tween Dene l  and the  Ind ian  Author i t ies  has been 

reso lved.  

 That  i s  f ine  bu t  o f  course  dur ing  the  induct ion  as  

the  execut ives  are  t ry ing  to  p ro jec t  you know the  cur ren t  
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bus iness,  the  fu tu re  and every th ing .   So Ind ian  market  has  

been a lways a  very  impor tan t  market  fo r  Dene l  because  

even the  s tud ies  a t  tha t  t ime as  presented they were  

showing the  fas tes t  g rowing market .  

 So tha t  was f ine .   My –  the  meet ing  o f  my board  –  

the  f i rs t  meet ing  was on the  10  September  2015.   In  tha t  

meet ing  o f  course  we have been taken th rough d iscuss ion  

o f  the  prev ious board  and you know the  s t ra teg ic  i ssues o f  

wh ich  aga in  the  expans ion  o f  Dene l  in to  tha t  market  

because maybe jus t  to  g ive  a  l i t t le  background.  10 

 The fo re ign  market  o f  the  Dene l  i t  i s  ma in l y  –  i t  was  

a t  my t ime i t  was main ly  in  the  Midd le  East .   And tha t  

market  had i t s  own compl ic i t y.   And o f  cou rse  the  domest ic  

market  wh ich  is  t he  South  A f r i can Defence Force  I  th ink  i t   

i s  –  i t  i s  an  open  secre t  tha t  every  budget  vo te  I  th ink  we 

can go as  ear ly  as  ever  s ince  the  dawn o f  democracy the  

de fence budget  vo te  i s  decreas ing  a l l  the  t ime because o f  

course  the  Sovere ign  has go t  p ress ing  issues.   To  a  po in t  

where  the  domest ic  de fence market  cannot  sus ta in  the  

company.   So tha t  i s  a  s t rong a rgument  made.    20 

 And Cha i r  I  happened to  have the  –  the  m inutes  bu t  

o f  cou rse  I  do  no t  want  to  hand them to  you un less  i f  you  

permi t  me to  do  so .   Which  has captured the  presenta t ion  

on  the  10  September  o f  my new board .   

 And in  tha t  p resenta t ion  there  is  an  overv iew.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   And maybe –  maybe befo re  I  fo rge t  do  

fee l  f ree  to  hand  them to  the  lega l  team so tha t  they can 

assess them and a t  the  r igh t  t ime they can make them 

ava i lab le  to  me.  

MR MANTSHA:   Wel l  Cha i rpe rson w i th  your  d i rec t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR MANTSHA:   I  am f ine  to  do  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay a l r igh t .  

MR MANTSHA:   I  am f ine  to  do  so .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l r igh t .  10 

MR MANTSHA:   I  w i l l  do  so .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

MR MANTSHA:   So  –  so  a t  tha t  s tage… 

ADV CILLIERS SC:   Mr  Cha i r  maybe i f  I  can  jus t  in te r rup t  

i t  i s  no t  a  s i tua t ion  where  Mr  Mantsha has any rese rva t ions  

o f  hand ing  i t  in  he  is  jus t  wor r ied  about  maybe 

conf ident ia l i t y  s i t ua t ions be tween h im and Dene l .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh okay.  

ADV CILLIERS SC:   So  he has go t  i t  ava i lab le  and he  is  

w i l l i ng  to  hand i t  to  you.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV CILLIERS SC:   I t  i s  on ly  tha t  he  –  I  d id  no t  enough  

t ime to  prepare  on  these issues.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes.  

ADV CILLIERS SC:   I t  i s  a  quest i on  o f  h is  –  wor r ied  tha t  
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he  does not  want  to  b reach the  conf ident ia l i t y  s i tua t ion  

w i th  Dene l .  

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no ,  no  tha t  i s  f ine .   I  unders tood h im 

a lso  to  be  fee l ing  f ree  to  hand them in  bu t  I  jus t  thought  i t  

i s  be t te r  tha t  the  lega l  team sees them f i rs t  be fo re  they ge t  

to  me.   Ja .  

ADV CILLIERS SC:   As  you p lease .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes Okay.    

MR MANTSHA:   Thank you Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  10 

MR MANTSHA:   Then a  presen ta t ion  is  made o f  the  

markets  tha t  the  company shou ld  go  to  and a  reso lu t ion  on  

the  10  September  were  thought  by  the  execut ive  tha t  sa id  

the  execut ive  must  be  mandated to  exp lore  the  Ind ian  

market .   Bas i ca l l y  to  go  and see i f  we cannot  se t  a  

company now the  fo rmat ion  o f  the  company.  

 So a  reso lu t ion  was p resented  –  I  mean was  

approved the  board  as  requested by  the  management .   And 

ever  s ince  then work  was be ing  done by  the  management  

and the  management  b r i e f ing  the  board  on  what  was 20 

happen ing  as  fa r  as  tha t  p rocess is  concerned.  

 So I  must  say  to  you Cha i r  tha t  tha t  p rocess was  

under taken in  te rms o f  the  PFMA.   That  p rocess was  

under taken in  consu l ta t ion  w i th  the  depar tment  and in  

consu l ta t ion  w i th  the  Nat iona l  Treasury.  
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 There  have been  a  number  o f  meet ings where  the  

execut ives  met  Nat iona l  Treasury  and met  the  Depar tment  

o f  Pub l i c  Enterp r ise  to  d iscuss the  t imef rame o f  when to  

submi t  and what  in fo rmat ion  is  requ i red .  

 And th is  a  mat te r  o f  s tandard .   When a  s ta te  owned  

company in tends to  fo rm a  Jo in t  Venture  o r  go  in to  another  

market  you have  to ge t  the  permiss ion  f rom the  execut ive  

au thor i t y.    

 Bu t  be fore  you get  tha t  permiss ion  you must  g ive  a  

pre -not i f i ca t ion  to  the  execut i ve  au thor i t y  to  say  look I  am 10 

go ing  to  fo rm th i s  o r  I  am go ing  to  th is  market  fo r  these 

reasons.   The  execut ive  au thor i t y  w i l l  ask  you the  

quest ions;  wou ld  make whatever  inputs  a re  concerned and  

tha t  pos i t ion  was done.   To  a  po in t  where  the  fo rmal  

app l i ca t ions were  made I  th ink  they were  submi t ted  around  

15 December  –  around somewhere  –  somewhere  15  

December  or  13  December  I  do  no t  reca l l  bu t  be fo re  they   

were  submi t ted  aga in  there  was a  meet ing  where  the  who le 

process was exp la ined and the  urgency o f  the  mat te r  was  

exp la ined.  20 

 In  te rms o f  the  contex t  I  am t ry ing  to  g ive  Cha i r  i s  

tha t  the  journey o f  Dene l  to  As ia  or  to  Ind ia  s ta r ted  a lmost  

th i r t y  o r  more  years  back.   And when Dene l  was f reed f rom 

those cor rup t ion  and whatever  th ing  i t  eager ly  wanted to  

en ter  the  market .   And the  urgency Cha i r  was t r iggered by  
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a  number  o f  reasons.  

 One reason was a t  the  t ime when  we took over  in  

Ju l y  Dene l  debt  leve l  a t  tha t  s tage was very  h igh .   I f  I  

remember  we l l  the  Dene l  had over  R8 b i l l i on  fac i l i t ies  w i th  

the  banks.   Th is  re la tes  to  –  because when you tender  fo r  

an  a rms procurement  whatever  t he  th ing  there  is  a lways 

guarantee payments ,  bond and what  have you.    

 So Dene l  was R8 b i l l i on  and was le f t  w i th  l i ke  R2 

b i l l i on  in  te rms o f  the  fac i l i t i es  i t  had.   Dene l  a t  tha t  s tage  

owed Nedbank and ABSA over  R4 .8  b i l l i on  and a t  the  po in t  10 

I  th ink  the  cred i t o rs  f rom jus t  supp l ie rs  smal l  and med ium 

compan ies  I  th ink  i t  was over  R200 mi l l ion  debts  wh ich  

were  ove r  200 days unpa id .  

 So there  was a  very  se r ious cash prob lem and a lso  

compounded by  the  t ransact ion  wh ich  Dene l  jus t  acqu i red  

LSSA for  ove r  th ree  quar te r  o f  a  b i l l i on  and Dene l  had no 

funds to  serv ice  tha t  k ind  o f  t ransact ion .  

 So the  company was in  a  d i re ,  d i re  need to  ac tua l l y  

f ind  new market  and t ry  to  genera te  some revenue.   So 

when I  look  a t  i t  Cha i r  by  the  t ime my board  came in  Dene l  20 

was a l ready a  s ink ing  sh ip .  

 The debts  leve l  were  too  h igh .   That  i s  why in  te rms  

o f  the  t ransact ion  wh ich  I  w i l l  ta lk  a  l i t t le  b i t  because i t  has  

t r iggered the  suspens ion  o f  CFO and the  CE then .   The  

adv ice  a t  tha t  po in t  was Dene l  cou ld  no t  be  ab le  to  serv i ce  
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any  debt  and i f  Dene l  wanted to  take  any debts  l i ke  LSSA i t  

must  request  the  Sovere ign  to  t ry  to  pu t  the  money 

 So we are  in  tha t  s i tua t ion  and my board  was  

commi t ted  to  save the  s ink ing  sh ip .   And the  on ly  way to  

save the  s ink ing  sh ip  was to  t r y  to  make dec i s ions to  t ry  to  

ge t  the  new markets  where  you ea rn  revenue.  

 So there  was no rush to  the  dec is ion  o f  Dene l  As ia  

as  I  have a l ready exp la ined when i t  s ta r ted .   So the  

s i tua t ion  was not  ge t t ing  be t te r  bu t  the  app l i ca t ions were  

sent .   The depar tment  was sens i t i sed  on the  urgency o f  the  10 

mat te r  and I  th ink  Cha i rpe rson one apprec ia t ion  shou ld  be  

Dene l  un l i ke  Eskom does not  ge t  any guarantee f rom the  

s ta te .  

 I f  the  South  A f r i can Defence Force  wants  equ ipment  

they can go to  anyone e l se  inc lud ing  Dene l .   So we  do not  

have reserved –  Dene l  does not  have a  reserved market  be  

i t  domest ic ,  be  in te rnat iona l .  

 So every th ing  tha t  i t  does i t  has  to  compete  and as  

you know Cha i r  bus iness i t  i s  about  oppor tun i t ies  and the  

oppor tun i t ies  a re  no t  there  a l l  the  t ime.   And the  bus iness  20 

tha t  we ta lk ing  about  i s  a  very  ha rd  bus iness.   One is  no t  

se l l ing  ce l l  phones.   One is  se l l ing  weapons o f  mass  

dest ruc t ion  and the  consumpt ion  i s  the  s ta te  –  i s  t o  s ta te  

to  s ta te .  

 So i t  i s  a  very  d i f f i cu l t  bus iness to  ge t  invo l ved.   I t  
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has  go t  lo t  o f  red  tapes.   I t  has  go t  lo t  o f  regu la t ion  tha t  i s  

why o ther  peop le  ca l l  a rm dea lers  whatever  the  case might  

be .   I t  i s  no t  a  s imp le  bus iness.   So when you enter  tha t  

bus iness you have got  no  t ime to  s l ip  because when you 

look a t  i t  you  compete  w i th  b ig  de fence compan ies  coming  

f rom b ig  count r i es  l i ke  Un i ted  S ta te ,  Russ ia ,  Ch ina  and 

o thers  who have got  more  f inanc ia l  muzz le  to  –  to  take  you  

o f f  the  way and po l i t i ca l  muzz le  to  jus t  ge t  dea ls  away.  

 So i t  i s  a  bus iness tha t  requ i res  ser ious ag i l i t y  and  

you have to  take  dec is ions and t ry  to  execute  because i t  i s  10 

a  ve ry  d i f f i cu l t  marke t .  So a l l  o f  these is  sens i t i sed  to  the  

depar tment  bu t  then the  app l i ca t ions were  made in  te rms o f  

the  law.  The app l i ca t ions o f  course  a f te r  th i r t y  days the  law 

says i f  you  do not  ge t  an  answer  f rom the  execut ive  

au thor i t y  in  th i r t y  days you must  assume tha t  i t  i s  gran ted.  

 The law is  there  fo r  a  reason and  o f  course  as  law  

ab id ing  board  we  ac ted  accord ing  to  the  prov i s ion  o f  that  

Act  and we even  went  fu r ther  to  t ry  to  ge t  a  dec la ra to ry  

o rder  tha t  we compl ied .  

 But  Cha i r  I  must  say  to  you tha t  when you app ly  20 

these commiss ions f rom Execut ive  Author i t y  wh ich  is  

Pub l ic  Ente rpr i ses  and Nat iona l  Treasury  because Dene l  

had to  ge t  approva l  f rom Nat iona l  Treasury  on  the  bas i s  

tha t  Nat iona l  Treasury  has g iven a  guarantee.  A t  tha t  s tage  

I  th ink  i t  was R1.8  b i l l i on .  
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 So  whatever  t ransact ion  you have to  do  Nat iona l  

Treasury  must  see i t  and look a t  i t .  So  f rom tha t  po in t  the  

company was launched.   A l l  the  regu la tory  mat te rs  were  

fo l lowed and someth ing  tha t  we d id  no t  know the re  was a  

po l i t i ca l  s i tua t ion  in  the  count ry  and in  te rms o f  tha t  

po l i t i ca l  s i tua t ion  in  the  count ry  ce r ta in  events  happened in  

December  2015.   And those events  were  leaked to  the  

es tab l i shment  o f  Dene l  As ia .  

 A l l  sor ts  o f  connect ion  were  made.   Re la t ionsh ip  

be tween o ther  peop le  to  o ther  peop le  and th i s  i s  how i t  10 

happened.   But  I  am here  Cha i r  t o  exp la in  the  bas is  upon 

wh ich  the  board  took those dec i s ions and the  in fo rmat ion  

wh ich  was befo re  the  board .  

 Th is  in fo rmat ion  was not  on ly  be fore  the  board  bu t  

was befo re  Nat iona l  Treasury  and the  Depar tment  o f  Pub l i c  

Enterp r ises .   Th i s  inc luded a  proper  bus iness case,  the 

due d i l igence repor t  wh ich  have  been done to  a l l  the  

par t ies .  

 But  by  tha t  s tage  the  par tner  tha t  Dene l  had p icked  

to  go  to  the  As ian  market  w i th  ins tead o f  look ing  a t  the 20 

bus iness case o f  the  fo rmat ion  the  po l i t i cs  ove rwhe lmed 

the  bus iness because o f  the  leans o f  the  par tne r  and a l l  

the  exp lanat ions wh ich  were  po r t rayed in  the  med ia .  

 But  tha t  as  i t  may i t  c rea ted  prob lems fo r  the  

company.   We wanted to  do  bus iness no t  to  dea l  w i th  a l l  
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sor t s  o f  th ings,  po l i t i ca l  i ssues and o ther  th ings wh ich  were  

p lay ing  ou t  in  the  med ia .    

 We then dec ided  as  the  respons ib le  board  to  say  

look our  i n ten t ion  to  go  to  the  As ian  market  was f i rs t l y  and  

in te r  a l ia  w i th  a l l  the  o ther  th ings.   Our  eng ineers  are  

s i t t ing  id le .   There  is  no  work .   We have got  no  cash.   The  

young genera t ion  o f  eng ineers  are  no t  ge t t ing  exper t i se  

because we have got  no  work .   And the  emp loyment  

s i tua t ion  we w i l l  be  fo rced to  re t rench many  peop le  

because there  is  no  bus iness.  10 

 So we cons idered many  fac to rs .   I  th ink  a l l  o f  i t  i s  

sa id  in  the  app l i ca t ions.   We cons ide red many fac tors  bu t  

our  conc lus ion  was i t  i s  in  the  bes t  in te res t  o f  the  Repub l ic  

tha t  the  –  the  fo l low ing ent i t y  wou ld  and a  fo re ign  cur rency  

to  the  Repub l ic .   Anywhere  the  Repub l i c  was  51%.   

Anywhere  the  Repub l ic  was not  pu t t ing  a  cent  in to  tha t  

investment .   The Repub l ic  was  mak ing  ava i lab le  the  

exper t i se  o f  i t s  eng ineers  and the  techno logy.  

 The pa r tne r  was  put t ing  R100 mi l l ion  to  have tha t  

bus iness work .   And Cha i r  you wou ld  know tha t  in  any 20 

bus iness you can  never  g ive  guarantee tha t  the  bus iness i s  

go ing  to  be  successfu l .  

 You know the  t rue  hear t  o f  an  en t repreneur  i s  t o  

take  a  chance and ca lcu la te  the  chance and I  cer ta in ly  te l l  

you  tha t  the  chance tha t  was taken,  the  company had 
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worked on i t  fo r  many years  and even befo re  my ar r i va l  and  

the  ar r i va l  o f  my board  the  company has gone th rough tha t  

p rocess.   The company was sa t is f ied  tha t  the  proper  case  

was made tha t  i s  reasonab le  prospect  tha t  we go ing  to  be  

successfu l  in  tha t  bus iness.  

 And as  respons ib le  board  we took tha t  dec is ion .   

But  you might  no t  aware  Cha i r  in  te rms o f  the  governance  

procedures o f  how the  th ings come in to  p lay.   I  th ink  i t  i s  

impor tan t  because you –  you s i t  w i th  a l l  these a l l egat ions  

and I  must  as  I  s i t  here  share  my exper ience w i th  you on  10 

cer ta in  th ings tha t  the  pro toco ls  tha t  fo l lows.  

 The execut ive  o f  the  company genera te  a  bus iness 

case.   They br ing  the  bus iness case.   Before  they  br ing  i t  

to  the  board  the  bus iness case goes to  severa l  commi t tees  

o f  the  board .   The Soc ia l  and E th ic  Commi t tee  w i l l  dea l  

w i th  the  soc ia l  aspect  o f  tha t  bus iness case.   The Aud i t  

and R isk  w i l l  dea l  w i th  the  bus iness case and a l l  sor t s  o f  

th ings.   The HR and or  –  so  i t  goes to  those commi t tees  

and those commi t tees look a t  i t .   I t  comes to  the  board  and 

then the  board  w i l l  hear  the  repor ts  f rom var ious 20 

commi t tees and  de l ibera te  on  them and de l ibe ra te  on  

recommendat ions  o f  var ious commi t tees.  

 And e i the r  say  management  we agree w i th  th is  o r  we 

do not  agree w i th  th is  o r  go  and make a  fo l low up on th is .   

And when you look a t  th is  the  t ransact ion  tha t  I  am br ie f ing  
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about  there  was ex tens i ve  work  done to  t r y  to  cover  cer ta in  

a reas.   But  be  tha t  as  i t  may Cha i r  I  jus t  want  to  c la r i f y  and 

cor rec t  the  incor rec t  in fo rmat ion  wh ich  has been p layed fo r  

some t ime tha t  the  appo in tment  o f  myse l f  as  the  cha i r  and 

the  board  was to  in i t ia te  the  Ind ian /Dene l  p ro jec t  and i t  i s  

no t  t rue .   The pro jec t  was there  be fore  we s tar ted .   Yes the  

pro jec t  as  I  sa id  was to  the  best  in te res t  o f  th is  count ry.   

Was go ing  to  crea te  employment ;  was go ing  to  –  as  you  

know tha t  Defence compan ies  do  lo t  o f  d ip lomacy,  and 

defence companies do a lot  of  due pol i t ical  work.   So in 10 

tota l i ty f rom the due pol i t ical  point  of  v iew,  i t  was great  for 

the country.   From the dip lomat ic point  of  v iew, i t  was great  

for the count ry.    

 But  as state-owned companies,  something that  I  am sure 

Chair  you have observed many t imes f rom the wi tnesses that  

you have l istened to.   Somet imes pol i t ics overcome a 

business case.   And with respect  to  the Chai r.    

 My conclusion and my experience wi th th is as the chair  

of  the board in my board.   The pol i t ics and the events which 

were happening at  the t ime, which we had no cont rol  of .    20 

 I t  is only when I  l istened to people talk ing in  th is 

Commission.   Say:   Oh,  could that  have been the reason why 

there was no answer here is  because of  th is informat ion.   

But  al l  our interest  was to push a business.   That  is al l  we 

are t ry ing to do.    
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 So i t  is again not  correct  that  the suspension of  the 

execut ives had anything to do wi th  the move to go to India.   

The suspension of  the execut ives had everything to do wi th a 

t ransact ion which they presided over dur ing our appointment  

as the board.   And this is the t ransact ion where Denel  went  

to buy a company for R 855 mi l l ion.    

 When we started our  work on the 10t h of  September,  we 

were then told that  Denel  must  pay R 455 mi l l ion to Nedbank 

on the 30t h of  September.   That  was a hel l  shock to us.    

 So,  of  course,  we probed how did this happen.   There 10 

was a t ransact ion which was started before us.   The 

acquisi t ion of  the LSSA and the manner that  the t ransact ion 

was structured and the informat ion,  which was presented to 

the board,  gave r ise to the suspension of  the CFO and the 

CE.   

 Unfortunately,  that  t ransact ion,  of  course,  was not  

presided by our board.   But  our  board,  in terms of  the 

condi t ions f rom Nat ional  Treasury -  when Nat ional  Treasury 

approved that  board,  they put  a very st r ingent  condi t ion.    

 And one of  i t  was,  the board should make an i rrevocable 20 

undertaking that  Denel  wi l l  not  go to the state and look for  

funding to f inance anything might  come out  of  th is  

t ransact ion.   And Denel  should be able to repay.   I  th ink i t  

was R 650 mi l l ion of  the guarantee at  the speci f ic t ime.   

 So,  of  course,  my board is conf ronted wi th those issues.   
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There was no stage we could make that  i r revocable 

undertaking.   There was no money to service that  debt .   We 

did not  have the R 455 mi l l ion to  pay to Nedbank on the 

30t h of  September.    

 And the basis of  agreeing to an arrangement that  you 

wi l l  get  a br idging f inance for s ix-months -  whi le the approval  

by the execut ive author i ty and Nat ional  Treasury,  they were 

based on the fact  that  the loan terms were f ive years.    

 And when al l  of  that  was changed to s ix-months wi thout  

the execut ive author i ty get t ing involved.   And the real  10 

impl icat ion of  that  Chai r  of  not  paying the R 455 mi l l ion on 

the 30t h of  September to Nedbank,  would have meant a 

defaul t .    

 And in terms of  the protocol  that  operates because 

state-owned companies,  they go to the board,  raise cash and 

some of  i t  is guaranteed by the state.   So Denel  had,  at  that  

stage,  I  th ink bonds around three bi l l ion plus.    

 And the defaul t  would have t r iggered the bondholders to  

recal l  their  faci l i t ies,  which would mean, apart  f rom the 

R 455 mi l l ion that  we have to pay,  we would then have to pay 20 

three point  something bi l l ion.    

 And the effect  was beyond Denel  because then i t  would 

mean the bondholders of  other state-owned companies,  i t  

would t r igger a cause-defaul t  against  a l l  the state-owned 

companies.    
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 So new as we were,  i t  was – we were overwhelmed  We 

were complete overwhelmed to say:   Wel l ,  we are the people 

who are going to preside over th is catastrophe.  We did not  

want to do that .   So we acted.   We took a decision.    

 We suspended them because we were convinced that 

was reckless lending and the protocols which they were told 

to be fol lowed were not  fo l lowed.   

 But  we move there and I  th ink towards the end,  I  th ink 

on the meet ing of  the 10t h,  then the resolut ion was made by 

the board to say the Audi t  and Risk Commit tee should work 10 

wi th the then management to  t ry to avert  the si tuat ion and 

invest igate exact ly what happened.   

 So I  then undertook a t r ip wi th the former CE, who I  

must  say,  we had a very good cordial  working relat ionship.   

We undertook a t r ip.   We had discussion about the si tuat ion.  

I  th ink . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    You say,  the former. . .?  

MR MANTSHA :    The former CE.  

CHAIRPERSON :    CE? 

MR MANTSHA :    Mr Salugee.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  okay.  

MR MANTSHA :    So we had a very good work ing rela t ionship 

and part  of  the discussions we had,  of  course,  was the 

si tuat ion back at  home.  At  that  point ,  of  course,  we real ised 

how grave the si tuat ion was and he then sa id to  me:  But  
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Chai r,  do not  get  us f i red here.   So I  said:   Wel l ,  le t  us go 

back home and we wi l l  hear what the Audi t  and Risk 

Commit tee has f ind.    

 So the point  I  am making again is.   There was no 

intent ion to suspend anybody.   The evidence which we were 

confronted wi th was such that  the two execut ives recklessly  

and they have breached even the condi t ions of  grant .   

Therefore,  an act ion had to be taken.    

 I ,  as the person Chai r,  having exper ience of  working wi th  

lots of  people who have lost  jobs or represent ing them.  So I  10 

am bias in t ry ing to f i re someone and I  wi l l  do that  on ly i f  

there was nothing else to do.    

 There were a lot  of  efforts to t ry to get  cooperat ion,  to 

t ry to get  more informat ion.   I  th ink even the meet ing that  

they had wi th  the Audi t  and Risk Commit tee lasted for  a very 

long t ime and the board meet ing convened very late and 

certain decisions were taken.    

 But  suff ice to say to you that  those decisions were taken 

in the best  interest  of  the company.   I t  had nothing personal  

against  the execut ives,  as I  have said to  you.   I  th ink even 20 

the former CE would say we had a very good cordial  

re lat ionship.   I  actual ly l iked him.  I  thought he l iked me too.   

So we were working wel l  together.   We had no issues.    

 But  the facts were such,  a decision had to be taken and 

they had to be suspended.  Then,  of  course,  we then moved 
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to the issue of  a set t lement.    

 When we were faced with that  s i tuat ion,  overwhelmed as 

we were,  the intent ion of  the board was f i rst ly.   We should 

not  al low there should be a cross-defaul t ,  across al l  the 

state-owned companies.   We should not  al low the co l lapse of  

Denel .    

 Yes,  we do not  have the R 455 mi l l ion but  at  that  stage,  

Nedbank was very angry.   Nedbank was angry because when 

the money was borrowed f rom the,  Nedbank was informed – 

this is my understanding – was informed that ,  g ive us 10 

R 455 mi l l ion.   The four  hundred wi l l  pay for  my own 

pockets.   Nedbank then real ised that  the four hundred which 

they paid to make eight  f i f ty- f ive,  came f rom ABSA and ABSA 

was given a securi ty of  four hundred mi l l ion which was the 

money that  was r ing fenced by the company in terms of  the 

Hoefyster Project .   Whatever.   So they were very angry.    

 And again,  the speci f ic condi t ion of  approval  by the 

Minister of  Publ ic  Enterpr ises was:   Please,  do not  play the 

banks against  one another.   And here we are.   Nedbank is  

angry that :   Look,  al l  you d id to  us was to  put  secur i ty  of  20 

shares but  wi thout  ABSA you have put  securi ty,  real  securi ty,  

you put  the money.   So there was a tense re lat ionship 

ar is ing of  that  and th is is when we understood that  Nedbank,  

in fact ,  conducted a due di l igence.    

 I  do not  have the facts to  the report  to anything.   This is 
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the understanding as i t  was related to me that  they advised 

Denel  that :   Look,  we do not  have money to do this 

t ransact ion and you are highly indebted.   So i f  you say this  

deal  has everyth ing to do wi th  the Nat ional  Defence Force,  

then ask them to put  the money.    

 So the relat ionship wi th Nedbank,  at  that  point ,  was not  

good because they fel t  they were misled.   They were not  

t reated equal ly l ike ABSA.  So the focus of  the board and the 

act ing Execut ive was to t ry to get  a deal  wi th Nedbank to 

extent  the terms that  we do not  pay the money at  that  t ime.   10 

 Eventual ly,  an agreement was reached that  there was a 

l i t t le bi t  of  space and I  th ink they said:   Okay,  pay us hal f .   I  

th ink i t  was another six-months but  I  am not  sure.    

 And then,  of  course,  we had no opt ion.   We ei ther pay 

the hal f  or we want al l  the money.   I  th ink then the deal  was 

reached.  The CFO, the then CFO, the then act ing CFO and 

members of  the Audi t  and Risk Commit tee,  they were 

working ful l -b lown on this.   So that  agreement was reached.   

 Then we had to scrape through and t ry to f ind some cash 

so that  we do not  defaul t .   And at  that  point  Chai r,  we had no 20 

focus on the discipl inary issues of  these two execut ives.    

 The matter,  of  course,  as you know is  an administ rat ive 

matter that  is run by your HR and the company secretary and 

al l  sorts of  th ings.   But  unbeknown to us,  pol i t ical ly  events 

were bui ld ing up.    
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 There were hearings and change and th is and this  but  

just  to set  the record straight .   We were consumed to t ry to 

deal  wi th what we considered a real  matter.    

 But  then pol i t ical  events overtook a lot  of  th ings to a 

point  where we come to a conclus ion as a board af ter we 

had been advised by the management that  on the basis that  

they might  not  led let  we deal  wi th th is.   I t  is very sensi t ive.    

 When you go out  there and discuss these t ransact ions,  

they want to know that  you wi l l  stay tomorrow.  You are the 

man that  they wi l l  be deal ing wi th you tomorrow.  And then,  10 

of  course,  when you deal  wi th the local  s i tuat ion l ike your  

credi tors,  the banks,  of  course they want certa inty to  say:   

Look,  i f  we make an agreement wi th you today,  nobody is  

going to come tomorrow and t ry to change i t  because you 

wi l l  not  be there.    

 So the overal l  interest  of  business,  they informed us as 

proposed by the management to say:   Look,  we cannot afford 

to have this matter being prot racted because one we do not  

have stabi l i ty internal ly.    

 And two,  i t  is rais ing concerns in the market  because the 20 

people  who we are borrowing money f rom,  they want to deal  

wi th something stable.   So we considered the issues and at  

that  stage,  of  course,  there was ful l -b lown l i t igat ion by the 

suspended employees.    

 And Chai r,  somet ime in leadership you have to balance 
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the interest .   And of  course,  Chai r  would know with your  vast  

experience in many of  these matters.   And in terms of  our  

col lect ive wisdom, we looked at  the al l  the factors and we 

considered the business stabi l i ty and cont inui ty.   I t  is more 

important  than any other  th ing because we are t ry ing to save 

the ship.    

 We then considered the impl icat ion of  al l  the legal  costs 

that ,  I  mean, we a lready were paying.   And we fel t  that  i t  wi l l  

be in the interest  of  the company to close the chapter.   That  

is how the set t lement  was arr ived at .   And then we moved 10 

f rom there.    

 But  let  me get  back to VR Laser,  which I  th ink clear ly,  

wi th many evidence that  Chai r  has had so far.   Was a 

company which had a relat ionship wi th Denel  and concluded 

certain agreements and that  was before the appointment  of  

my board.    

 So I  am not  able to te l l  you what  was considered that  

inf luenced the management at  that  stage.   There was a 

board,  there were an execut ive at  that  stage.    

 I  cannot ta lk to you about  that  but  al l  I  can say is,  the 20 

management who were in charge of  th is stage of  the 

agreement,  considered whatever they have considered and 

they have entered into those agreements.    

 And l inking the VR as a partner,  which has been doing 

the work wi th Denel  before our coming,  and the VR Asia 
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which is owned by a major i ty shareholder of  VR South Afr ica.   

So,  of  course,  a case was made to us.    

 A business case was made to us as I  have al luded to i t .   

That  here was substant ia l  investment,  cash-wise,  that  the VR 

Asia was going to put  and there was a proper shareholding 

agreement where the state had 51.    

 There was a due di l igence report ,  of  course,  which 

ra ised a number of  th ings and as a board we said let  us t ry  

and protect  what e to protect .    

 So there is no l ink between suspension and Denel  Asia.   10 

As I  have al ready al luded to you.   I  th ink i f  I  can just  take a 

simple logic.    

 The evidence is that  the former CE before the act ing CE 

that  was appointed had int roduced this company to Denel  for 

reasons by himsel f  but  I  take a view Chair  that  I  presume 

that  we al l  mean wel l .    

 And I  would not  s i t  here and speculate that  other people 

do not  mean wel l .   I  work on the basis that  he meant wel l  for  

whatever reasons.   So he would have in terms of  my 

analyses of  the business case,  any competent  Chief  20 

Execut ive Off icer would have been convinced about the case 

which was made to go to Ind ian.    

 And anyway,  the minutes that  I  am going to  hand to your  

legal  team, relates to the resolut ion that  he himsel f  proposed 

that  we must  give him that  permission.    
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 So again,  i t  is factual ly not  correct  that  his suspension 

had anything to do wi th Denel  Asia.   So I  understand – I  

th ink I  was here Chairperson when this Commission was – I  

th ink the f i rst  s i t t ing of  the Commission.    

 I  have l istened to the leading evidence leader,  Mr 

Pretor ius SC when he was put t ing the pi l lars of  the al leged 

State Capture,  which is put(?) new boards.   My board turned 

into being af ter the previous board has run i ts l i fe.   So i t  was 

a natural  progression because boards are g iven speci f ic 

t ime.  So there was no removal  of  a board to get  my board 10 

in.    

 And secondly,  removing the Chief  Execut ive and the 

CFO to match(?)  a way for capture.   And I  say Chai r,  

general ly,  there was no reason for us to even be al leged that  

that  was the case.    

 The removal  of  these execut ives had everything to  do 

wi th the t ransact ion which or ig inated before my board was 

appointed.   Any prudent board would have taken the decision 

that  we had taken.   

 So there is no l ink of  thei r  departure wi th whatever the 20 

al legat ions on the State Capture mechanism is.  Is not .   So ,  

of  course,  i t  is very convenient  Chai r,  I  th ink.   You know 

bet ter than us.   You have been l istening to th is ev idence.    

 I t  is very convenient  for people for reasons know to 

themselves to cry vict im.   But  a  pol i t ical  s i tuat ion was 
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created where i t  was easy to say certain th ings and people 

could easi ly bel ieve you.   But  these are the facts and I  am 

happy Chai r  that  also other independent people al luded to 

some of  the things that  I  am saying.    

 So there is no l ink wi th that .   So then there are issues 

re lat ing to my personal  t ravel l ing.   And Chair  I  d id t ravel  to  

India at  my own personal  instance and at  my own personal  

cost .   I  d id t ravel  to Dubai .   I  do not  remember how many 

t imes in my own personal  capaci ty.   I  d id t ravel  to many 

other places in my capaci ty as the chairperson of  the board.    10 

 And relat ing to in format ion which a l legedly was sent  by 

ei ther mysel f  or  my off ice,  I  can say that  I  have never  sent  

informat ion to people who were not  supposed to see the 

informat ion.   I  have never sent  informat ion to  anybody who 

had no interest  in the informat ion.    

 So the informat ion that  they are referr ing to which 

re lates to pre-not i f icat ion,  the PFMA appl icat ion,  that  

informat ion would have been sent  to Sal im Essa who had 

been at  many t imes operat ing f rom the Gupta premises.    

 So as far as my relat ionship is concerned with the Gupta 20 

fami ly.   I  have known the Gupta fami ly in  my capaci ty as a 

minister ia l  advisor.    

 And at  that  stage,  I  was advis ing the Min ister  in  

Communicat ion.   And of  course,  the Gupta ’s were running 

the TMA.  They were stakeholder in  the industry.   Where,  of  
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course,  a lot  o f  d iscussions between, you know, the 

government and the stakeholders t ime and t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Which minister was that? 

MR MANTSHA :    [No audible reply]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Which minister was that  one?  The 

Minister of  Communicat ion that  you are advis ing?  Who was 

i t?  

MR MANTSHA :    Chai r,  th is was – th is was in 2014.   This 

was around 2014.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Would i t  not  have been Ms Fai th  10 

Muthambi?  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes,  indeed.  

MR MANTSHA :    Okay a lr ight .  

MR MANTSHA :    Indeed.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  Okay.  

MR MANTSHA :    Ja.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MR MANTSHA :    So I  have known them in that  capaci ty and,  

you know, we interacted in that  capaci ty.   So you know, that  

is the relat ionship I  had.   And beyond that ,  of  course,  I  had 20 

re lat ionships wi th a number of  the stakeholders that  I  re lated 

to them, ar is ing f rom that .    

 So in  conclus ion of  what I  have just  said.   Just  to put  the 

record clear.   The board members that  I  have served with,  

they have served Denel  and they have given everyth ing and 
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they have served wi th integr i ty.    

 There is nothing that  they have done which amount to 

any element of  State Capture as i t  is,  you know, put .   They 

have suspended,  yes.   But  they have suspended on the basis 

of  the facts before them.   

 They have set t led,  yes,  on the basis of  the facts before 

them.  They have decided,  of  course,  to proceed with  

decisions to enter the new markets on the basis of  the 

informat ion which was presented to them.  

 Nobody told them what decision to make.  I  th ink,  of  10 

course,  the Commission has got  access to,  you know,  to  the 

records.  

 Because you see,  a board of  d i rectors mainly acts 

through the meet ing,  through the resolut ion,  through the 

del iberat ion and i t  is very clear  there,  that  certain  

considerat ions were made which are black and whi te and 

which can be asserted(?).   And those were the basis of  those 

decisions,  nothing more.    

 And Chai r,  just  to  add.   I  have t ravel led to our biggest  

markets in the Middle East  and I  was shocked to see that  the 20 

major i ty of  people who operate in those defence companies 

are South Af r icans.   And the major i ty  of  them worked for 

Denel .    

 Very competent  engineers,  who go there wi th an 

invest ing mind.   So,  of  course,  the intel lectual  property in  
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the space,  i t  is in  the head of  an engineer.   And the product  

that  they were making that  s ide were actual ly  bet ter  than the 

product  that  we are making.    

 And those states have got  big pockets.   They had new 

factor ies.   They had new infrastructure.   So as a chai r  I  

could see that  we had to do something because this  is what 

we cal l  our biggest  market .    

 I t  is nothing more than people copying form us and 

tomorrow they would not  need us.   So we t r ied what we could 

do.   To then say,  we must  then get  into new technologies for 10 

the company and there had been a lot  of  research and we 

got  into cyber space and al l  sorts of  th ings.   So we t r ied to 

make sure that  the ship should not  s ink.    

 But  of  course,  given the fact  that ,  you know, the 

sovereign is  pressed(?) wi th lot  o f  chal lenges in terms of  

serv ice del ivery issues.    

 So spending money on the defence company becomes 

not  the most  pr ior i ty.   And to have the sovereign,  to st i l l  

retain some defence capabi l i t ies,  i t  means that  the company 

must  be agi le enough and t ry to take the opportuni t ies.    20 

 But  maybe some of  the issues that ,  of  course,  you are 

confronted wi th Chair  – and I  must  say,  in terms of  my own 

experience,  the regulatory f ramework in which Denel  

operates in,  i t  is  not  good for  the company because the 

company competes at  a  global  space.   Local ly,  i t  has got  no 
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-  there is no preference that  they must  be given a contract  

by South Af r ican Defence Force.    

 And i f  you have a regulatory involvement,  I  th ink a lot  of  

entrepreneurs wi l l  te l l  you that  one of  the big enemies of  

business is r idged regulatory environment because business 

in i ts nature is opportuni t ies and they ar ise anyt ime and 

agi l i ty is very requi red.    

 So that  has been also a f rust rat ion.   And i f  you see 

where we sel l (?),  they say:   Ja,  but  why did you push so 

hard to do this?  We pushed so hard because we are doing 10 

business.   We are doing business because of  opportuni t ies 

come and go.   And we are doing business in a very hard 

environment.    

 And the other issues,  except  regulatory f ramework.   

state-owned companies are led by pol i t ic ians.   And when I  

say pol i t ic ians,  I  mean execut ive author i t ies are pol i t ic ians 

who somet imes,  wi th al l  respect  to our pol i t ic ians wi th the 

good work they do every day.  

 But  somet imes pol i t ical  decisions or pol i t ical  interest  

overr ides commercial  interest  of  a state-owned company.   I  20 

have personal ly –  we have experienced that .   With respect  to  

everybody e lse,  the fantast ic job that  the execut ive 

author i t ies to do provide leadership and oversight  to these 

companies.   But  there is  a problem that  decisions are taken 

pol i t ical ly instead of  a commercial  decision to be taken.    
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 So I  th ink Chai r,  I  can si t  here and say a lot  but  I  th ink I  

have given the context  in  which my board operated,  the 

decisions which were l inked wi th  the State Capture,  why 

were they taken and the basis upon which they were taken.   

Thank you.   Thank you for the opportuni ty.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Thank you.   Thank you very much 

Mr Mantsha.   I  just  want to say maybe two things ar is ing out  

of  your evidence because what you have been doing is  

giv ing evidence about your  exper iences and those  o f  your  

board  dur ing  your  t ime and your  unders tand ing  and your  10 

perspect ives  o f  what  happened in  regard  to  cer ta in  

mat te rs .    

 The one is  the  one you jus t  ment ioned namely  to  

what  ex ten t  po l i t i c ians –  maybe  po l i t i ca l  i ssues  might  

somet imes in te r fe re  w i th  commerc ia l  dec i s ions or  w i th  

bus iness a t  s ta te  owned enterpr ises  and – so  tha t  i s  

someth ing  tha t  one may need to  look  a t ,  what  fo rm  i t  takes 

and what  impact  does i t  have on a  bus iness,  when  does i t  

happen and so  on .    

A fo rmer  Cha i rperson o f  one o f  the  SOEs gave  20 

ev idence here  some weeks back and sa id  to  me oh,  I  know 

these po l i t i c ians,  oh  no ,  these min is te rs ,  you know,  they 

l i ke ,  you know,  coming in to  the  SOEs because they look fo r  

bus iness oppor tun i t ies  and he sa id  I  know them,  I  have,  

you know,  been around,  b lah ,  b lah ,  b lah ,  b lah .   So one  
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does not  know,  what  one w ishes is  tha t  SOEs be run  in  a  

manner  tha t  wou ld  make them susta inab le  and pro f i tab le  so  

tha t  they can,  you know,  fu l f i l  the i r  ro les .   But  tha t  i s  the 

one par t .  

The o ther  par t  I  want  to  ment ion  i s ,  you see,  i t  i s  a  

p i t y  tha t  somet imes peop le  do  not  come to  the  Commiss ion  

to  g ive  the  Commiss ion  in fo rmat ion  about  mat te rs  tha t  a re  

re levant  to  the  Commiss ion  because i f  we get  to ld  one s ide  

o f  the  s to ry  and we never  ge t  to ld  the  o ther  s ide  or  another  

s ide  then we w i l l  dec ide  on  the  bas i s  o f  one s ide .   We wi l l  10 

make f ind ings on  the  bas is  o f  one  s ide  o f  the  s to ry  bu t  we 

want  to  hear  a l l  s ides o f  the  s to ry.   Everybody knows how 

f rom 2018 I  have fo r  a  long t ime been mak ing  pub l i c  

announcements  to  inv i te  everybody who has got  

in fo rmat ion  tha t  i s  re levant  to  the  Commiss ion  to  p lease 

come fo rward ,  g ive  us  in fo rmat ion .   Some peop le  d id  come 

fo rward ,  o thers  d id  no t  come,  o thers  came la te ,  so  there  

are  those th ings .   So I  have no doubt  tha t  when the  

Commiss ion  f in ishes i t s  work  the re  wou ld  s t i l l  be  many  

peop le  who do have in fo rmat ion  tha t  shou ld  have been 20 

g iven to  the  Commiss ion  bu t  who d id  no t  come fo rward ,  

you know,  wh ich  is  un fo r tunate  bu t ,  you know,  we can on ly  

do  so  much.  

Now I  am ra is ing  tha t  because i t  is  a lso  re levant  to  

your  ev idence in  Dene l  because Mr  Sa lugee gave ev idence 
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las t  yea r,  you know,  and you w i l l  remember  t ha t  the  

Commiss ion  wan ted to  ge t  s ta tements  f rom you and  

in fo rmat ion  to  hear  the  board ’s  s ide  o f  the  s to ry.   You 

know,  we sa id  p lease,  here  are  s ta tements  f rom Mr  

Sa lugee,  see what  he  says about  you and the  board ,  g ive  

us  your  a f f idav i t  because we want  to  hear  the  who le  s to ry.   

I  do  no t  want  to  go  in to  i t  bu t  we s t rugg led .   We s t rugg led .  

Now,  o f  cou rse ,  you are  he re  now,  we are  happy 

tha t  you are  here  bu t  the  on ly  th ing  tha t  i s  un for tunate  i s  i f  

we had got  maybe some o f  the  in fo rmat ion  or  you r  s ide  o f  10 

the  s tory  las t  year  i t  cou ld  have g iven us  a  lo t  o f  t ime to 

invest iga te  cer ta in  mat te rs .   When we get  i t  now we are  

c lose  to  the  ta i l  end o f  our  work ,  some o f  the  invest iga tors  

have le f t ,  so  i t  m igh t  no t  be  so  easy to  do  the  k ind  o f  

invest iga t ion  tha t  we wou ld  have l i ked  to  do  in to  some o f  

the  mat te rs  tha t  you may ra i se ,  you  see?   

For  example ,  I  may be mis taken but  I  do  no t  

remember  tha t  when Mr  Sa lugee gave h is  ev idence he 

ta lked about  –  I  may be mis taken,  he  ta lked about  the  

issue o f  the  loan tha t  you a re  ta lk ing  about  was  i t  w i th  20 

Nedbank?  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes,  yes ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Which  I  th ink  you say was a t  the  cent re  

o f  the i r  suspens ion  and so  on .   Now he may have spoken –  

maybe I  have fo rgo t ten  bu t  i t  i s  qu i te  an  impor tan t  mat te r  
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to  look  a t  because i t  dea ls  w i th  the  quest ion  o f  were  the  

suspens ions based on a l legat ions o f  w rongdo ing  on the i r  

par t ,  o f  fa i lu re  to  do  the i r  job  proper ly  o r  were  the  

suspens ions based on someth ing  e lse  and the  impress ion  

one got  when ev idence was g iven before  and  when 

ev idence gets  g i ven,  you know,  recent ly,  i s  towards the  

v iew tha t  i t  was someth ing  e lse ,  you see?  But  we do not  

hear  your  s ide  o f  the  s to ry  we w i l l  no t  hear  abou t  those 

a l legat ions,  you see?  And we w i l l  fo rm whatever  v iew 

based on what  i s  be fore  us  whereas i f  peop le  come fo rward  10 

and say here  is  another  s ide  o f  the  s to ry,  tha t  he lps  us  

because we want  to  hear  a l l  s ides o f  the  s to ry.   There  is  no  

such tha t  you do not  want  to  hear.   So you unders tand 

tha t?  

MR MANTSHA :    Wi th  respect ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MANTSHA :    Thank you very  much,  I  do  unders tand but  

I  th ink  my exper ience in  re la t ion  to  the  Commiss ion ,  the  

manner  in  wh ich  peop le  who manage the  opera t i ons -  o f  

course ,  th is  has no th ing  to  do  w i th  the  Cha i r  –  i t  c rea tes  20 

an impress ion  o f  o ther  peop le  a re  be ing  accused o f  do ing  

cer ta in  th ings and,  you know,  when you s ta r t  a  p rocess by  

t ry ing  to  [ ind i s t inc t ]  07 .22  o ther  peop le ,  they o f  course  fee l  

insu l ted ,  they fee l  angry  and they do  not  fee l  they have to  

coopera te  because they have been  a l ready judged.  
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 So  I  th ink  tha t  i s  the  prob lem tha t  we see p lay ing  i t  

ou t ,  I  th ink  i t  i s  the  respons ib i l i t y  o f  many o f  us  who had  

the  oppor tun i t ies  to  serve  in  d i f fe ren t  capac i t ies  t o  share  

the  exper ience and Cha i r,  w i th  respect ,  I  th ink  i f  tha t  was 

the  approach –  I  am speak ing  fo r  myse l f  –  i f  tha t  was the  

approach,  Cha i r,  I  am more  than w i l l i ng  … 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MANTSHA :    …to  s i t ,  to  debate . .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MANTSHA :    …my exper ience in  te rms  o f  the  10 

regu la tory  env i ronment  as  I  exper ience i t ,  the  re la t ionsh ip  

w i th  our  po l i t i c ian ,  o f  wh ich  I  have respect  to  them,  where  I  

th ink  commerc ia l  in te res t  have been s ide l ined because,  

you know,  po l i t i c i ans are  po l i t i c ians.  

 So w i th  tha t ,  Cha i r,  I  th ink  –  speak ing  fo r  myse l f ,  I  

th ink  i t  i s  a l l  the  bas is  o f  an  [ ind i s t inc t ]  08 .42 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR MANTSHA :    I t  was not  anyth ing  bu t  th is  has no th ing  to  

do  w i th  the  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  20 

MR MANTSHA :    And I  th ink  lo t  o f  peop le  wou ld  want  to  

come and share  the i r  exper ience w i th  the  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .  

MR MANTSHA :    And say look,  th is  i s  what  I  exper ience  

and,  you know… 
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MANTSHA :    Th is  i s  my account  o r  th is  i s  the  journey I  

have t rave l led .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .   No,  tha t  i s  f ine .   Thank you,  

Mr  Mantsha.   Mr  Kennedy?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you ,  Cha i r.   Cha i r,  may we 

s tar t  by  jus t  request ing  your  leave to  in t roduce fo rmal ly  

in to  the  ev idence the  a f f idav i t s  tha t  Mr  Mantsha has  

prov ided.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Mr  Mantsha,  do  you have  Dene l  

bund le  8  in  f ron t  o f  you?  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So r ry,  wou ld  you jus t  speak in to  the  

m icrophone ra the r  than nodd ing?  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes,  th is  i s  bund le  8 .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  you have tha t .  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Jus t  remember  i t  has  to  be  recorded  

and t ranscr ibed poss ib l y  in  the  fu tu re .  20 

MR MANTSHA :    Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  p lease  do not  jus t  nod,  t ry  and 

bear  in  m ind tha t .  

MR MANTSHA :    Thank you.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I f  I  can  take  you p lease to  page 330 
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and the  page numbers  are  pr in ted  in  b lack  a t  the  top  le f t  

hand co rne r.   I t  is  no t  the  pages on the  r igh t  hand  corner,   

in  red .   Okay?  And I  am s imply  go ing  to  g ive  the  las t  th ree  

d ig i t s  o f  th is  ra ther  long number  wh ich  s ta r ts  Dene l  08 .   

Have you got  page 330?  

MR MANTSHA :    I  do ,  I  do .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And tha t  appears  to  be  –  what  i s  

re fe r red  to  as  a  s ta tement  bu t  in  fac t  appears  to  have been  

an a f f idav i t .   I f  I  can  take  you to  page 336,  i s  tha t  you r  

s ignature?  10 

MR MANTSHA :    Ja ,  indeed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Sor ry,  there  are  two s ignatures .   The  

top  s ignature ,  i s  tha t  yours?  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes,  i t  i s .   But  may I  then say someth ing  

about  th is  a f f idav i t?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Wel l ,  le t  me jus t  comple te  my 

quest ions f i rs t  be fore  you do tha t .  

MR MANTSHA :    Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    You s igned th is  in  f ron t  o f  

Commiss ioner  o f  Oaths  a f te r  tak ing  the  a f f i rmat ion ,  i s  tha t  20 

r igh t?  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t .   What  i s  i t  you  want  to  ra ise  

about  the  a f f idav i t?  

MR MANTSHA :    Wel l ,  I  want  to  ra ise  an  issue  jus t  fo r  
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cor rec t ion  about  the  breakfas t  meet ing  in  Mel rose.   I  th ink  

I  assumed tha t  S tephan Burger  was there  bu t  on  

reco l lec t ion ,  he  was not  there .   I t  was myse l f ,  Mr  Sa lugee,  

Mr  Ntshepe and Mr  Essa.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    A re  you  re fer r ing  to  page 331  

paragraph 5?  Mr  Mantsha,  a re  you re fer r i ng  to  tha t  

parag raph?  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes,  yes .   Yes,  yes .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   You have ra ised th is  

p resumably  because there  is  –  you have re f lec ted  on the  10 

cor rec tness o f  th is  a f f idav i t  and p icked up tha t  there  may  

be an er ror  re la t ing  to  your  a l legat ion  tha t  Mr  Burger  

a t tended a  breakfas t  a t  Me l rose A rch ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MANTSHA :    Wel l ,  somebody reminded me.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t .  

MR MANTSHA :    When I  was ask ing  about  tha t  meet ing .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I  see .   So is  i t  incor rec t  where  you 

sa id  tha t  Mr  Burger  a lso  a t tended tha t  meet ing?  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Okay.   So you wou ld  need to  de le te  20 

the  words:  

“ . . .and Mr  Burger. ”  

I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    May I  ask  you w i th  your  lega l  team’s  
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ass is tance p lease,  wou ld  you be  w i l l i ng  to  s ign  a  fu r ther  

supp lementary  a f f idav i t  to  cor rec t  tha t?  

MR MANTSHA :    Indeed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    A l r igh t  and w i l l  you  prov ide  tha t  to  

the  Commiss ion  p lease?  

MR MANTSHA :    Indeed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And we w i l l  then fu rn i sh  tha t  to  the  

Cha i rperson th rough the  fo rmal  p rocesses o f  hav ing  i t  

admi t ted .   I s  there  any o ther  p rob lem tha t  you have  p icked 

up in  re la t ion  to  th is  a f f idav i t?   Have you been th rough th is  10 

a f f idav i t  in  p repara t ion  fo r  th i s  hear ing  together  w i th  your  

lega l  team? 

MR MANTSHA :    No.   No,  no t  rea l l y.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I  see .   You want  an  oppor tun i ty  to  

read th rough i t  because you want  to  check i t  now? 

MR MANTSHA :    No,  I  th ink  you can take  me th rough i t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   I s  there  anyth ing  e lse  you want  

to  d raw the  a t ten t ion  because what  I  am t ry ing  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  I  th ink ,  Mr  Mantsha,  Mr  Kennedy  20 

seeks to  es tab l i sh  whether  you are  in  a pos i t ion  to  answer  

quest ions based on th is  a f f idav i t .   So,  in  o ther  words,  you  

remember  what  you sa id  o r  whether  you need to  re f resh  

your  memory  or  no t?  

MR MANTSHA :    No,  I  th ink  the  b road th rus t  o f  the  a f f idav i t  
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I  remember.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.  

MR MANTSHA :    As  I  sa id  in  my open ing ,  Cha i r,  th is  i s  f i ve  

years  or  someth ing  ago.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR MANTSHA :    There  cou ld  have  been o ther  de ta i l s  tha t  I  

omi t ted .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .   No,  tha t  i s  f ine .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I  unders tand  tha t ,  I  am jus t  t ry ing  to  

go  th rough the  fo rmal  p rocess o f  ge t t ing  you to  conf i rm 10 

under  oa th  here  tha t  the  a f f idav i t  is  cor rec t .   I  accept  tha t  

there  may be some deta i l s  you cannot  a lways remember  

bu t  tha t  I s  no t  my  quest ion .   The a f f idav i t  was s igned fa i r l y  

recent ly.   I f  we look a t  page 336,  i t  was s igned on  the  28  

August  2020,  i s  tha t  co r rec t?  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now you have,  to  your  c red i t ,  d rawn  

a t ten t ion  to  a  po in t  o f  de ta i l  tha t  you fe l t  needs to  be  

cor rec ted  and tha t  i s  the  Mel rose  Arch  b reakfas t  and tha t  

Mr  Burger  was no t  in  a t tendance and we thank you fo r  tha t .   20 

Otherwise ,  can we take i t  tha t  you are  –  you conf i rm,  as  

you d id  be fore  Commiss ioner  o f  Oaths  in  August  2020 tha t  

the  a f f idav i t  i s  t rue  and co r rec t?  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t .   P lease do not  s i t  too  fa r  away 
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f rom the  m icrophone,  Mr  Mantsha.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  when you are  too  fa r  i t  w i l l  no t  be  

recorded –  your  answers  w i l l  no t  be  recorded.  

MR MANTSHA :    I  jus t  have a  l i t t le  b i t  o f  p rob lem wi th  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Eyes igh t?  

MR MANTSHA :    Eyes igh t ,  ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  i t  the  l igh t  o r  jus t  eyes igh t?  

MR MANTSHA :    I  th ink  i t  i s  jus t  the  s igh t  i s  fa i l ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  i s  i t?  10 

MR MANTSHA :    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  i t  too  dark  there?  

MR MANTSHA :    No,  no ,  no ,  i t  i s ,  I  cannot  read when i t  i s  

[ inaud ib le  –  speak ing  s imu l taneous ly ]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay,  okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I  can  unders tand,  the  documents  

have to  be  a  b i t  o f  a  d is tance f rom you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Can I  perhaps suggest  respect fu l l y  

tha t  –  yes,  you  e i ther  move the  m icrophone or  move 20 

yourse l f  and i f  you  need to  pu t  the  documents  above the  

desk then pe rhaps tha t  w i l l  he lp .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Or  when you answer  you can move 

fo rward  a  l i t t le  b i t  and then move back.   Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    A l r igh t ,  thank you.   So do you  
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con f i rm tha t  the  a f f idav i t  sub jec t  to  the  cor rec t ion  about  Mr  

Burger  and the  Mel rose A rch  breakfas t  the  contents  a re  

t rue  and co r rec t?   Mr  Mantsha,  you are  a t to rney,  i s  there  a  

d i f f i cu l t y  w i th  the  quest ion?  I  am ask ing  you can you 

conf i rm tha t  the  contents  o f  th is  a f f idav i t  a re  t rue  and  

cor rec t?  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes,  I  am actua l l y  t ry ing  to  read to  see i f  

there  i s  any o ther  de ta i l  tha t  I  [ inaud ib le  –  speak ing  

s imul taneous ly ]  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I  see .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  maybe we  shou ld  ad journ  fo r  ten  

m inutes  or  so ,  I  do  no t  know.   Do you need t ime to  re f resh? 

MR MANTSHA :    I  though,  Cha i r,  I  cou ld  read i t  as  i s .  

CHAIRPERSON:    As  we go a long.  

MR MANTSHA :    As  we go a long ra ther  than to  was te  t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  the  on ly  concern  is  whethe r  tha t  i s  

no t  go ing  to  s low us down anyway.   I  th ink  maybe le t  us  

take  the  tea  break.   Le t  us  take  tea  break.   What  do  you  

th ink ,  Mr  Kennedy?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  thank  you,  Cha i r,  i t  i s  p i t y  tha t  20 

he  d id  no t  read i t  be forehand.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Bu t  be t  i t  as  i t  may.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes perhaps –  these a f f idav i t s  a re  
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ex t remely  br ie f .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I  th ink  there  are  th ree  a f f idav i t s  he  

w i l l  need to  read,  they are  a l l  –  the  next  one  is ,  fo r  

example ,  a  page and a  ha l f  and the  next  one a  few pages.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Pe rhaps we can take  a  tea  

ad journment  and you can read th rough them.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  15  m inutes ,  20  m inutes  f ine ,  Mr  

Mantsha,  to  go  th rough them? 

MR MANTSHA :    Indeed,  Cha i r,  indeed.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  le t  us  make i t  twenty  m inutes ,  tha t  

takes us  to  twenty  f i ve  past  and my watch  says about  f i ve  

past .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    No,  twenty  f i ve  past .   Thank you,  

Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay.   We ad jou rn .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 20 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  you were  ab le  to  go  th rough the  

a f f idav i t s  Mr  Man tsha?  

MR MANTSHA:    Yes Cha i r  thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t ,  thank you.   Mr  Kennedy?  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you  Cha i r.    Thank you fo r  

do ing  so  Mr  Man tsha.   So i f  we ’ re  look ing  a t  page 330 –  

I ’m   sor ry  jus t  g ive  me a  second,  yes  page 330,  have you  

been th rough tha t  a f f idav i t?  

MR MANTSHA:    Yes I  have been th rough th is  page.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And apar t  f rom the  co r rec t ion  you 

have a l ready made  re fe rence to  on  the  next  page,  

parag raph 5 ,  to  Mr  Burger,  hav ing  to  be  de le ted  there ,  

apar t  f rom tha t ,  can you conf i rm now under  oa th  tha t  the  

contents  o f  th is  a f f idav i t  a re  t rue  and cor rec t?  10 

MR MANTSHA:    I  jus t  w ish  to  po in t  on  spec i f i c  

parag raphs.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:     Yes,  Cha i r  can I  jus t  so  tha t  we have  

some b i t  o f  f ramework  fo r  how we are  go ing  to  dea l  w i th  i t ,  

a re  you go ing  to  add to  someth ing?   

MR MANTSHA:    Yes,  I  am go ing  to  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Okay I  pre fer  you not  to  add to 

anyth ing  a t  th is  s tage.  

MR MANTSHA:    No I  am not  add ing .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Oh I  thought  you sa id  yes  when I  20 

asked you.  

MR MANTSHA:    I  jus t  want  to  make a  co r rec t ion  on .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Make a  co r rec t ion ,  tha t ’s  f ine ,  yes ,  

parag raph?  

MR MANTSHA:    I  have a l ready ind ica ted  pa ragraph 5 .  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes we have dea l t  w i th  tha t ,  what  

e lse?  

MR MANTSHA:    And then I  have got  paragraph 7  aga in .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Paragraph 7 ,  yes?  

MR MANTSHA:    Yes o f  course  i t  i s  many years  ago,  the  

cor rec t  pos i t ion  i s  who ca l led  who I  have no reco l lec t ion ,  

and then I  have paragraph . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Sor ry,  be fore  you move f rom tha t  I  

don ’ t  unders tand,  you sa id  you wanted to  make a  

cor rec t ion  ra the r  than add ing  someth ing ,  i s  there  a  10 

cor rec t ion  here ,  is  there  someth ing  wrong here?  

MR MANTSHA:    Wel l  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry,  maybe le t ’s  do  i t  th is  way Mr  

Kennedy and Mr  Mantsha.   Maybe  le t  us  say,  le t  us  do  i t  

th is  way you asked Mr  Mantsha whethe r  the  –  once you 

have conf i rmed  h is  s ignature  and he deposed  to  the  

a f f idav i t  be fore  a  Commiss ioner  o f  Oaths  you ask  h im  

whethe r  the  contents  a re  t rue ,  then he can say,  Mr  

Mantshe you can say they are  t rue  and cor rec t  except  

cer ta in  cor rec t ions tha t  you w i l l  make in  due course ,  dur ing  20 

your  ev idence.   Then when Mr  Kennedy dea ls  w i th  tha t  

then you can say  in  tha t  parag raph he re  i s  what  shou ld  be  

cor rec ted  and th i s  i s  what  i t  wou ld  say.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  le t ’s  do  i t  tha t  way,  in  tha t  way  
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we can get  the  a f f idav i t s  submi t ted  and then we s tar t  w i th  

quest ions.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  we can then make some 

progress,  thank you Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you  fo r  the  gu idance.    Mr  

Mantsha are  you happy to  p roceed  on tha t  bas i s?   

MR MANTSHA:    Indeed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  so  sub jec t  to  any changes you  

may want  to  ind ica te  in  the  course  o f  you r  o ra l  ev idence a t  10 

th is  s tage are  you happy to  conf i rm tha t  sub jec t  to  tha t  the 

contents  a re  t rue  and cor rec t?  

MR MANTSHA:    Indeed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t  thank you.   Cha i r  may we then 

ask  leave to  have  th is  a f f idav i t  a t  page 330 admi t ted  as  an  

exh ib i t  in  Bund le  Dene l  8  as  Exh ib i t  W22.1 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    The a f f idav i t / s ta tement  o f  Mr  Lug isan i  

Dan ie l  Mantsha s tar t ing  a t  page 330 is  admi t ted  as  Exh ib i t  

W22.1 .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you Cha i r.   May we then 20 

proceed Mr  Mantsha to  the  next  a f f idav i t  in  the  bund le ,  i t  i s   

a t  page 337 to  338,  i t  i s  a  two page a f f idav i t .   I s  tha t  your  

s ignature  as  the  f i rs t  s ignature  on  page 338? 

MR MANTSHA:    Cor rec t  Cha i rperson.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And tha t  was s igned in  f ron t  o f  a  
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Commiss ioner  o f  Oaths  on  the  28 t h  o f  August  2020,  

cor rec t?  

MR MANTSHA:    Cor rec t  Cha i rperson.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Have you been dur ing  the  tea  

ad journment  th rough th i s  a f f idav i t ?  

MR MANTSHA:    I  d id  look  a t  i t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    A re  there  any cor rec t ions you  want  to  

d raw a t ten t ion  to  now or  w i l l  you  dea l  w i th  anyth ing  fu r ther  

in  the  course  o f  your  o ra l  ev idence  tha t  you wou ld  l i ke  to?  

MR MANTSHA:    I  wou ld  dea l  w i th  cor rec t ions.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    You w i l l  dea l  w i th  co r rec t ions la te r?  

MR MANTSHA:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Sub jec t  to  tha t  do  you conf i rm tha t  

the  contents  a re  t rue  and cor rec t?   

MR MANTSHA:    Indeed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t  and your  th i rd  a f f idav i t  I  

be l ieve  is  a t  page  342.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You don ’ t  want  us  to  f in ish  w i th  th is?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  beg your  pardon,  qu i te  so  Cha i r,  

thank you.    20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    May we ask then leave to  have tha t  

admi t ted  as  Exh ib i t  W22.2 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    The s ta tements /a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  Lug isan i  

Dan ie l  Mantsha s tar t ing  a t  page 337 is  admi t ted  as  Exh ib i t  
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WW22.2 .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you Cha i r,  and the re  is  a  th i rd  

a f f idav i t  Mr  Mantsha tha t  you w i l l  f ind  a t  page  342.   A t  

page 345 i t  appears  to  be  your  s ignature  a t  the  top ,  i s  tha t  

cor rec t?  

MR MANTSHA:    340?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Two,  so r ry,  f ive ,  345 there  appears  to  

be  your  s ignature  a t  the  top .   345 Mr  Mantsha,  do  you have 

345 on the  top  le f t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Look a t  the  b lack  numbers .  10 

MR MANTSHA:    I  can  see i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    H ’m.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I s  tha t  you r  s ignature  a t  the  top  Mr  

Mantsha?  

MR MANTSHA:    Indeed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you.   Aga in  sub jec t  to  the  

same qua l i f i ca t ions tha t  you may want  to  add o r  cor rec t  a t  

a  la te r  s tage sub jec t  to  tha t  you conf i rm the  con tents  o f  

th is  a f f idav i t?  

MR MANTSHA:    Indeed.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you.   Cha i r  may we then ask  

fo rmal ly  fo r  l eave to  admi t  th is  a f f idav i t  f rom page 342 in  

Bund le  8 ,  as  Exh ib i t  W22.3 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    The a f f idav i t s / s ta tement  o f  Mr  Lug isan i  

Dan ie l  Mantsha s tar t ing  a t  page 342 is  admi t ted  as  Exh ib i t  
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W22.3  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Cha i r.    Now Mr  Man tsha in  

the  open ing  s ta tement  tha t  you gave you ind ica ted  tha t  a t  

a  ce r ta in  s tage in  2015 you were  appo in ted  as  Cha i rperson 

o f  the  Board  o f  Dene l ,  cor rec t?  

MR MANTSHA:    Cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And you served fo r  how long?  

MR MANTSHA:    I  res igned around 2018 I  th ink  i t  was,  

towards the  end o f  February.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Your  appo in tment ,  can I  take  you in  10 

th is  bund le  to  page 422,  th is  i s  Min i s te r  Lynne Brown’s 

pub l i c  s ta tement  re la t ing  to  your  appo in tment  as  pa r t  o f  the 

new board .   Do you have tha t?  

MR MANTSHA:    420?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Two.  

MR MANTSHA:    I  do .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So  i t  was on the  24 t h  o f  Ju ly  2015 the  

Pub l ic  Enterpr ises  Min is te r  Lynne Brown made the  

fo l low ing,  made a  pub l i c  announcement  where  she says  

fo l low ing cab ine t  approva l ,  she has ro ta ted  the  Board  o f  20 

Dene l ,  Mr  Dan ie l  Mantsha is  appo in ted  as  the  non-

execut ive ,  as  a  non-execut ive  d i rec tor  and as  the  

Cha i rperson o f  the  Board  w i th  e f fec t  f rom 24 Ju ly  2015 fo r  

a  th ree  year  pe r iod .   

 So you wou ld  ord ina r i l y  in  te rms o f  the  th ree  year  
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appo in tment  have  car r ied  on  unt i l  the  23 r d  o f  Ju ly  2018,  i s  

tha t  r igh t?  

MR MANTSHA:    Cor rec t .   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Bu t  you d idn ’ t  –  sor ry  may I  jus t  ask  

you p lease not  to  s i t  too  fa r  back f rom the  microphone.   

Thank you.    I  know these th ings can be a  b i t  ted ious bu t  I  

am a f ra id  I  jus t  have to  remind you o therwise  we cou ld  

have prob lems wi th  the  record ing .  

MR MANTSHA:    Thank you Counse l .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you  very  much.    So d id  you 10 

res ign ,  I  th ink  you sa id  in  February  2018?   I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MANTSHA:    I  th ink  so .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  so  you d idn ’ t  serve  ou t  the  fu l l  

per iod  o f  the  th ree  years ,  you res igned a  few months 

be fore  the  end o f  tha t  th ree  year  per iod ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MANTSHA:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And why was  tha t?  

MR MANTSHA:    Wel l  persona l  reasons.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Was i t  persona l  reasons?  

MR MANTSHA:    Yes.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And then Lynne Brown,  the  Min is te r  

then se ts  ou t  a t  the  foo t  o f  the  page a  br ie f  summary o f  the  

pro f i les  o f  the  non-execut ive  d i rec tors  be ing  as  fo l lows;   

“Mr  Mantsha obta ined a  BJur is  in  1991 and LLB in  

1993,  bo th  f rom the  Un ivers i t y  o f  Venda.   He i s  an  
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a t to rney who has  acqu i red  va luab le  exper ience ove r  

the  years  in  Corpora te  F inance,  Transact iona l  

Adv is ing ,  Bus iness Management ,  Commerc ia l  Law,  

Med ia  and Communica t ion  Law,  Admin is t ra t i ve  and  

Const i tu t iona l  Law. ”  

Does tha t  accura te ly  p rov ide  the  fac ts  as  to  ve ry  br ie f l y  

your  background?  

MR MANTSHA:    Wel l  Cha i rperson th is  i s  no t  a  s ta tement  

f rom me,  th is  i s  what  they wro te .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes so  I  am ask ing  you whether  i t  is  10 

accura te?  

MR MANTSHA:    I  cannot  comment  on  tha t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    You can ’ t  comment  on  whe ther  she  

has been cor rec t  in  say ing  fo r  example  you have got  a  B  

Jur i s  and an LLB,  sure ly  you wou ld  know.  

MR MANTSHA:    No,  o f  course  I  do  have.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Wel l  i s  there  anyth ing  wrong in  what  

she has sa id?  

MR MANTSHA:    Wel l  I  don ’ t  want  to  comment  on  the 

s ta tement  i ssued by  her  depar tment ,  yes  I  have got  20 

exper ience in  these k ind  o f  th ings.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    These k ind  o f  th ings?  

MR MANTSHA:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t ,  and in  add i t ion  to  what  she has 

se t  ou t  o f  course  you had ac ted  as  an  adv iso r  to  the  then 
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Communica t ion  Min is te r,  Ms Fa i th  Muthambi ,  cor rec t ,  you  

to ld  the  Cha i r  tha t  ear l ie r.   

MR MANTSHA:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  i t  re fe rs  to  you hav ing  apar t  

f rom your  exper ience and . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am so r ry  Mr  Kennedy,  we l l  I  am not  

sure  Mr  Mantsha  whether  there  was any m isunders tand ing  

between yourse l f  and Mr  Kennedy in  te rms o f  what  he  

sought  to  es tab l i sh .   I  unders tand  you Mr  Kennedy  to  seek  

to  es tab l i sh  whether  Mr  Mantsha was conf i rm ing tha t  what  10 

Min is te r  Brown to ld  the  pub l i c  about  h im was co r rec t?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes I  d id  ask  tha t  quest ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  now tha t  may be impor tan t  Mr  

Mantsha because th is  was a  s ta tement  where  you were  

be ing  appo in ted  to  a  S ta te  owned  ent i t y,  the  pub l i c  wants  

to  know the  peop le  who are  be ing  appo in ted  and the  

Min is te r  te l l s  the  pub l i c  cer ta in  t h ings about  those  peop le  

and the  pub l i c  m ight  say  we l l  those peop le  are  exper ienced  

so  we have comfor t ,  o r  they m ight  say  bu t  these  peop le  

have no exper ience,  so  I  th ink  i t  is  impor tan t  fo r  you to  be  20 

ab le  to  say i f  there  i s  someth ing  tha t  i s  no t  accu ra te  tha t  

the  Min is te r  sa id  in  the  s ta tement  about  you,  o r  i f  you  say 

no  there  is  no th ing  inaccura te  then  i t  i s  f ine ,  bu t  I  th ink  the  

pub l i c  wou ld  be  concerned i f  the  Min i s te r  has to ld  them 

who you a re  and  what  exper ience  you have and then you  



13 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 306 
 

Page 57 of 118 
 

a re  no t  ab le  to  e i ther  conf i rm or  say  no  she got  someth ing  

wrong.  

MR MANTSHA:    I  th ink  i t  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Cor rec t ,  okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    A l r igh t  thank you.   Of  cou rse  th is  was  

a  very  br ie f  summary o f  some o f  the  main  po in ts ,  no  po in t s  

there  are  o the r  fac ts  re la t ing  to  your  exper ience and so  

fo r th ,  one be ing  tha t  you had been the  adv i sor  to  the  

prev ious commun ica t ions m in is te r,  Fa i th  Muthambi .   Were  

you the  lega l  adv i sor  o r  a  spec ia l  adv i so r  o r  a  po l i cy  10 

adv isor  to  Min is te r  Muthambi?  

MR MANTSHA:    Wel l  I  was appo in ted  a  lega l  adv isor  bu t  

when you adv ise  lega l l y  there  are  po l i cy  mat te rs ,  there  are  

po l i t i ca l  mat te rs ,  so  I  adv ise  across the  board .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I  see ,  and jus t  by  way o f  background,  

have you ever  p rev ious ly  managed a  commerc ia l  bus iness 

or  a  S ta te  owned  bus iness o r  served as  Cha i rperson o f  the 

Board  o f  any such bus iness?  

MR MANTSHA:    No I  have been a lways manag ing  my own 

bus iness.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Your  own bus iness mean ing  what  –  

your  a t to rneys f i rm or  commerc ia l  bus inesses?  

MR MANTSHA:    No my a t to rneys prac t ice .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  okay and then she re fers  to  

some o f  you r  a reas o f  exper t i se  such as  communica t ion  
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law,  med ia  law,  admin is t ra t i ve  and const i tu t iona l  law.   

Have you a lso  had exper ience in  labour  law?  Have you  

a lso  had exper ience in  labour  law? 

MR MANTSHA:    Cha i rperson a  lo t ,  a  lo t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you.   A l r igh t  wh i le  we are  a t  

th is  page I  wou ld  jus t  l i ke  to  no te  someth ing  tha t  Min is te r  

Brown has re fer red  to  ear l ie r,  in  the  4 t h  paragraph i t  says :  

“ I  wou ld  l i ke  to  thank the  ou tgo ing  Board  led  by  

Act ing  Cha i rperson Mar t ie  Janse  [ i t  shou ld  be  I  

th ink  van Rensburg ]  fo r  an  ou ts tand ing  job .   They  10 

handed over  a  company tha t  i s  t ru ly  on  a  pa th  to  

pos i t i ve  susta inab i l i t y.   I  commend them for  the i r  

p ro fess iona l i sm in  ensur ing  the  handover  repor t  

was o f  such a  qua l i t y  tha t  i t  w i l l  be  a  c r i t i ca l  gu ide  

to  the  new board . ”  

Now you d id  no t  serve  on  the  prev ious board  when i t  was  

cha i red  on  an ac t ing  bas is  by  Ms  Janse van Rensburg ,  i s  

tha t  r igh t?  

MR MANTSHA:    Cor rec t .   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  you ar r i ved as  a  new broom as i t  20 

were  in  Dene l  as  the  Cha i rperson a t  Dene l .  

MR MANTSHA:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    There  were  some o thers  tha t  had  

crossed over  f rom the  prev ious board  to  the  new board ,  

Min is te r  Brown re fers  to  tha t  ear l ie r  on ,  i t  i s  ac tua l l y  Mr  
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Johannes Motseke be ing  reappo in ted  fo r  pu rposes o f  

cont inu i t y.  

 So you ar r i ve  a t  somebody new in  the  organ isa t ion  

o f  Dene l .   A re  you ab le  to  te l l  the  Cha i r  p lease overa l l  what  

was the  s ta te  o f  Dene l  bo th  as  a  bus iness i n  genera l  and in  

par t i cu la r l y  in  re la t ion  to  f inanc ing  when you took over  as  

i t s  Board  Cha i rpe rson in  2015?  

MR MANTSHA:    Cha i rperson I  th ink  I  have a l ready  a l luded 

to  i t ,  when the  new Board ,  wh ich  I  was par t  o f ,  Dene l  was  

a l ready a  s ink ing  sh ip .  Dene l  was  a l ready owing cred i to rs ,  10 

main ly  smal l  and  med ium enterp r ises  ove r  200mi l l ion  and  

these invo ices were  more  than 200 days.   Dene l  a t  tha t  

s tage was owing Nedbank and ABSA over  p robab ly  I  th ink  

i t  was R4.7b i l l i on .   Dene l  fac i l i t i es  w i th  f inanc ia l  

ins t i tu t ions  wh ich  was main l y  used fo r  i ssu ing  guarantees  

in  cont rac ts  was a t  tha t  s tage R8b i l l i on  p lus  and Dene l  was 

le f t  w i th  a round R2b i l l i on .  

 So the  f inanc ia l  s ta te  was d i re  a t  the  t ime,  

compounded w i th  a  t ransact ion  tha t  Dene l  has spent  

R855mi l l ion  o f  wh ich  Dene l  d id  no t  have tha t  money.   So i t  20 

was ca tas t roph ic .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you.   Now may I  take  you in  

the  same bund le ,  bund le  8 ,  to  page 330 wh ich  is  your  f i rs t  

a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry  Mr  Kennedy.    I t  w i l l  be  
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impor tan t  in  due course  to  compare  Mr  Mantsha ’s  

desc r ip t ion  o f  Dene l ’s  pos i t ion  when the  Board  tha t  he  

cha i red  came in  w i th  fo r  example  what  I  was to ld  by  Mr  

Mhlont lo ,  because I  d id  ask  h im what  the  pos i t ion  o f  Dene l  

f inanc ia l l y  was when he and the  o the r  execut ives  were  

suspended,  because they were  suspended w i th in  about  

th ree  months  or  so  a f te r  the  new board  had come in .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  wou ld  be  impor tan t  in  due course  to  

compare  and see i f  i t  s i t  he  same.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   We wi l l  do  so  thank you Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Mr  Mhlont lo  –  I  beg your  pardon,  Mr  

Mantsha i f  I  can  d i rec t  you r  a t ten t ion  p lease to  page 330 

tha t ’s  you r  f i rs t  a f f idav i t ,  tha t  you s igned as  we saw on the 

28 t h  o f  August  2020,  was tha t  a t  the  request  o f  the 

Commiss ion?  D id  you s ign  the  a f f idav i t  a t  the  request  o f  

the  Commiss ion?  

MR MANTSHA:   Yes.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:  R igh t  and tha t  i s  a f te r  as  I  unders tand  20 

i t  tha t  the  Commiss ion  sent  you a  Ru le  33  not ice  d i rec t ing  

your  a t ten t ion  to  what  Sa lugee had sa id  i n  h i s  a f f idav i t s ,  

cor rec t?     

MR MANTSHA:   Yes.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:  R igh t  thank  you,  and i f  you  look a t  
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page 330,  parag raph 3  ac tua l l y  makes tha t  po in t :  

“ I  have read the  s ta tements  o f  Mr  R iad  Sa lugee and 

w ish  to  respond to  the  a l legat ions he  made re la t ing  

to  me. ”  

And then you do make a  response  and then fo r  example  a t  

page 331 you re fer  a t  paragraphs 89 to  90  tha t  i s  a  

re ference to  the  parag raph 89 to  90  o f  Mr  Sa lugee ’s  

a f f idav i t ,  cor rec t?    

MR MANTSHA:    89  to  90?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  10 

MR MANTSHA:    Okay,  yes .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Sor ry  I  am not  sure  tha t  you fo l lowed  

the  quest ion ,  we are  a t  page 331,  cor rec t?  

MR MANTSHA:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   In  your  a f f idav i t ,  th is  i s  what  you  

s igned,  you say 4  a t  paragraphs 89 to  90 ,  do  you  see the 

head ing?   

MR MANTSHA:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And you say:  

“ I  have no knowledge o f  th is  a l lega t ion . ”  20 

I ’m  s imp ly  ask ing  you when you re fer  ad  pa ragraph 89 to  

90  as  we as  a t to rneys l i ke  you and  counse l  l i ke  me use the  

te rm ino logy ad paragraph  i t  means re fe r r ing  to  pa ragraph 

89 to  90 ,  co r rec t?  

MR MANTSHA:    Yes.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    And i t  i s  89  to  90  I  am s imply  

want ing  to  es tab l i sh ,  tha t  i s  89  to  90  as  numbered  in  Mr  

Sa lugee ’s  a f f idav i t ,  cor rec t?  

MR MANTSHA:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t ,  and so  i t  goes on fo r  the  res t  

o f  you r  a f f idav i t .   So –  and the  Commiss ion  thanks you,  o r  

the  lega l  team thanks you fo r  p rov id ing  th i s  a f f idav i t  in  

response to  the  Ru le  33  Not ice ,  and then i f  I  can  take  you  

p lease –  and so r ry,  then a t  page 335 o f  the  same a f f idav i t  

you are  re fer r ing  to  a  fu r ther  s ta tement  o f  Mr  Sa lugee and 10 

you g ive  your  response to  tha t ,  cor rec t?   

MR MANTSHA:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   Then your  next  a f f idav i t ,  we  

w i l l  ge t  back to  the  contents ,  some o f  the  contents  o f  tha t  

a t  a  la te r  s tage,  I  am jus t  ge t t ing  ou t  o f  the  way  some –  

jus t  the  sequence  o f   how i t  was done and the  fo rmal i t ies .  

 337 i s  your  nex t  very  b r ie f  a f f idav i t ,  aga in  a lso  

s igned on the  28 t h  o f  August  2020,  and th i s  t ime in  

parag raph 3  you say:  

“ I  have read the  s ta tement  o f  Mr  Rata t so  K lakude  20 

and w ish  to  respond to  the  a l legat ions he  made  

re la t ing  to  me. ”  

So is  tha t  the  same as the  las t  a f f idav i t ,  your  a t ten t ion  was  

drawn by the  Commiss ion  to  ano ther  a f f idav i t  tha t  came 

f rom Mr  K lakude  and you were  asked to  respond  to  tha t  
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and you d id  so .  

MR MANTSHA:   Correc t .     

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  then we have a t  page 339 a  

le t te r  f rom the  Commiss ion  i t se l f  in  the  person  o f  i t s  

Secre tary,  P ro fessor  Musa la ,  you see tha t  a t  page 341? 

MR MANTSHA:    I  do .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And tha t  was  dated as  recent ly  as  7 t h  

October  2020 so  about  f i ve  or  s ix  weeks ago and tha t  

requested you to  p rov ide  by  the  spec i f ied  da tes  you w i l l  

see  in  paragraph 2  an  a f f idav i t  to  respond to  the  quest ions 10 

se t  ou t  in  paragraph 4  be low,  and  g ive  your  fu l l  ve rs ion  in  

re la t ion  the re to ,  and then there  are  a  number  o f  quest ions  

se t  ou t  a t  page 340,  parag raph 4A to  G,  do  you see  tha t?  

MR MANTSHA:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And jus t  by  way o f  example  pa rag raph 

A says:  

“You are  requested to  g ive  your  fu l l  vers ion  

jus t i f y ing  the  dec i s ions tha t  were  taken by  the  

Board  to  [a ]  suspend R iad Sa lugee who was the  

CEO,  F ik i le  Mh lont lo  who was  the  CFO,  and 20 

E l i zabeth  A f r i ca  who was the  company secre ta ry. ”  

And then l i kewise  in  [e ]  fo r  example  the  dec i s ion  what  

mot iva ted  you to  fo rm Dene l  As ia  and [ f ]  to  par tner  w i th  VR 

Laser  and [g ]  to  l i t i ga te  aga ins t  Treasury.  

 So they ra ise  these spec i f i c  quest ions?  
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MR MANTSHA:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I s  tha t  r igh t?    And you responded to  

tha t  in  your  la tes t  a f f idav i t  a t  page 342,  i s  tha t  r igh t?    

MR MANTSHA:   Yes.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And we see a t  page 345 tha t  tha t  was 

s igned by  you in  f ron t  o f  the  Commiss ioner  o f  Oaths  on  the  

14 t h  o f  October  2020,  wh ich  is  about  a  week a f te r  the  le t te r  

was dated?   

MR MANTSHA:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t ,  so  i t  was spec i f i ca l l y  a  10 

response to  tha t  request ,  cor rec t?   

MR MANTSHA:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Whi le  we are  a t  i t  you  were  asked o f  

course  to  p rov ide  a  fu l l  ve rs ion  to  jus t i f y  the  dec is ions.    

Now we looked a t  the  a f f idav i t  a t  page  342,  am I  co r rect  in  

suggest ing  to  you  tha t  th is  i s  a  very  br ie f  a f f idav i t?   

MR MANTSHA:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   And i t  g ives  ve ry  l i t t le  de ta i l  no t  

so?   For  example  le t ’s  take  you to  page 343,  paragraph 7 ,  

you were  asked  to  jus t i f y  the  dec is ion  re la t ing  to  the 20 

fo rmat ion  o f  Dene l  As ia  and you s imp ly  say i t  i s  se t  ou t  in  

bo th  the  PFMA Sect ion  52 ,  54 [2 ]  p re-not i f i ca t ion  o f  Sect ion  

51 [1 ] [g ] ,  you had noth ing  to  add to  those documents  i s  tha t  

r igh t?  

MR MANTSHA:    Cor rec t .  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  and then you a t tached,  he lp fu l l y  

you a t tached the  documents  tha t  you re fer red  to  as  

Annexures A and B  to  your  a f f idav i t ,  cor rec t?  

MR MANTSHA:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And we f ind  those f rom page 347,  i s  

tha t  r igh t?  

MR MANTSHA:    Cor rec t .   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now an indu lgence was granted to  

you a t  your  and your  lea rned counse l ’s  request  and w i th  

the  approva l  o f  the  Cha i r  to  a l low  you to  g i ve  an  open ing  10 

s ta tement ,  wh ich  you d id ,  ove r  some fa i r  per iod  th is  

morn ing  and we are  gra te fu l  to  you fo r  p rov id ing  de ta i l  to  

the  Commiss ion .   What  I  jus t  want  to  ra ise  ve ry  br i e f l y  w i th  

you is  the  concern  tha t  the  learned Cha i r  ra ised w i th  you 

ear l ie r  wh ich  is  –  i s  there  any par t i cu la r  reason why the  

cons iderab le  de ta i l  you  have g i ven to  us  a t  your  own  

request  in  your  de ta i led  fa i r l y  lengthy open ing  s ta tement  

was not  p rov ided  in  the  fo rm o f  the  a f f idav i t s  wh ich  you  

were  spec i f i ca l l y  requested to  g ive ,  no t  jus t  a  vers ion  bu t  a  

fu l l  vers ion ,  any reason fo r  tha t?  20 

MR MANTSHA:    I  th ink  Cha i r  I  have a l ready responded to  

the  Cha i rperson tha t  the  approach tha t  invest iga tors  and  

o f f i c ia ls  o f  the  Commiss ion  they  use when i t  comes to  

peop le  l i ke  myse l f  who were  in  the  se rv i ce  o f  the  count ry  

and tha t  we have  acqu i red  cer ta in  in fo rmat ion  and we have  
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–  we shou ld  prov ide  the  Commiss ion  w i th  the  in fo rmat ion .   

I  th ink  as  I  have exp la ined the  approach o f  t ry ing  to  accuse 

cer ta in  peop le  o f  be ing  e i ther  a  nebu lous o f  S ta te  Capture ,  

e i ther  be ing  invo l ved w i th  the  S ta te  Capture  because e i ther  

by  assoc ia t ion  o f  –  o r  o therw ise ,  i t  doesn ’ t  send an 

incent ive  to  peop le  to  come and ta lk  because the  quest ion  

tha t  Counse l  i s  ask ing  me you  wou ld  assume tha t  the  

Commiss ion  is  obv ious ly  ve ry  consc ious w i th  i t s  own  

t imef rames,  you wou ld  assume tha t  i f  fo r  example  these 

are  ac t ions o f  the  Board ,  the  Board  ac ts  th rough i t s  10 

meet ings and the  ac t ions o f  the  Board  by  law are  recorded  

in  the  m inutes  and in  the  reso lu t ions.  

 So you wou ld  expect  invest iga tors  to  ask  quest ions 

because they cannot  f ind  the  answers ,  bu t  when  you are  

be ing  asked th ings tha t  i f  i t  i s  be ing  invest iga ted  i t  shou ld  

be  easy fo r  the  invest iga tor  to  f ind  tha t  I  must  say  Cha i r  I  

am actua l l y  indebted w i th  exp lanat ion  tha t  you have g iven  

to  me but  o f  course  unfor tunate l y  Cha i r  we a re  no t  dea l ing  

w i th  the  Cha i rpe rson,  we a re  dea l ing  w i th  the  peop le  who 

are  employed to  do  th i s  k ind  o f  work  and indeed i f  the  20 

approach f rom the  beg inn ing  i s  tha t  the  Cha i rpe rson has 

exp la ined to  me  and what  my  –  I  mean Counse l  i s  

convey ing  now i t  wou ld  have been a  d i f fe ren t  approach,  

comple te ly.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    May I  take  your  Mr  Mantsha and I  am 
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encouraged to  hear  tha t  you fee l  a  measure  o f  reassurance 

f rom the  remarks  made by  the  lea rned Cha i rpe rson  in  tha t  

regard ,  bu t  may I  jus t  ask  you to  look  aga in  a t  the  le t te r,  

the  recent  le t te r  a t  page 339.   Page 339 says:  

“The invest iga t ions o f  the  Commiss ion  revea l  tha t  

you were  a  member  o f  the  Board  o f  D i rec to rs  o f  

Dene l  SOC L im i ted . ”  

Now tha t  i s  no t  an  accusat ion ,  tha t  i s  s imp ly  a  s ta tement  o f  

fac t ,  wh ich  is  e i ther  cor rec t  o r  no t .   

MR MANTSHA:    That  i s  co r rec t .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And then the  Cha i r  –  so r ry  no t  the  

Cha i rperson,  the  secre ta ry  o f  the  Commiss ion ,  Pro fessor  

Mesa la  says,  pa ragraph 2 :  

“ I  wr i te  to  you a t  the  d i rec t ion  o f  the  Commiss ion ’s  

lega l  team in  o rder  to  request  tha t  you fu rn ish  the  

commiss ion  on  or  be fore  Wednesday 14 October  

w i th  an  a f f idav i t  in  wh ich  you  respond to  the  

quest ions se t  ou t  in  paragraph 4  be low and g i ve  

your  fu l l  ve rs ion  in  re la t ion  there to .   I f  you  requ i re  

ass is tance e tce te ra  . . . ”  20 

We don ’ t  need to  go  th rough tha t ,  there  was a  suggest ion  

tha t  i f  you  needed ass i s tance tha t  wou ld  be  prov ided by  

the  commiss ion  w i th  no  cost  to  you ,  and then the  quest ions 

are  pu t ;  paragraph 4 :  

“ In  your  capac i ty  as  a  d i rec tor  a t  Dene l  you are  
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requested to  g ive  your  fu l l  vers ion  jus t i f y ing  the  

dec is ions tha t  were  taken by  the  Board  in  2015 and  

2016. ”  

Two,  and then we see A to  G and I  gave you some 

examples  o f  tha t .   I  don ’ t  th ink  we need to  dea l  w i th  the  

remainder  o f  the  le t te r  in  de ta i l  i t  ind ica tes  to  you the  lega l  

bas is  on  wh ich  i t  i s  sa id  tha t  the  commiss ion  is  en t i t led  to  

i ssue a  d i rec t i ve  and/or  summons any person to  submi t  an  

a f f idav i t  o r  appear  be fore  the  Commiss ion  e t ce tera ,  and i t  

g ives  a  dead l ine .   There  is  no th ing  in  th is  le t te r  wou ld  you  10 

concede tha t  says the  fo l low ing has a l ready been – you  

have a l ready been found gu i l t y  o f  someth ing ,  o r  the  

fo l low ing f ind ings  have a l ready been made,  no t  so?   I t  i s  

s imp ly  i s  neut ra l  i t  i s  say ing  the  Commiss ion  wou ld  l i ke  you  

to  answer  cer ta in  quest ions,  cor rec t?  

MR MANTSHA:    Wel l  w i th  respect  Cha i rperson both  ac t  

th rough H igh Cour ts .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I  am sor ry  jus t  speak up p lease.    

MR MANTSHA:    Bo th  ac ts  th rough the  Cour ts  and  

Cha i rperson I  don ’ t  want  –  I  am not  here  to  jus t i f y  20 

anyth ing ,  I  am here  to  exp la in  what  has happened,  what  I  

have exper ienced  and when a  ques t ion  comes to  me  to  say 

jus t i f y  the  dec i s ion ,  the decisions of  the board are contained 

in minutes in the board resolut ions and i t  is s imple and easy 

for the commission to understand the basis upon which al l  
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these decisions were taken.   Sorry Chai r.   That  is why for me 

because these were not  my personal  decisions.   I t  was fai r  

enough to refer to those documents which has contained 

these decisions.   I t  was not  to say I  am not  cooperat ing.    

I f  you ask me quest ions in my capaci ty as a Chair  I  

wi l l  then give you the act ions of  the board which are 

contained in  the minutes and in the resolut ion.   So that  is  

why I  at tach this  document because then you see this was 

the reasoning and that  is why these decisions were taken.   I f  

Counsel  wants to  get  to  a point  that  I  was not  cooperat ing 10 

that  I  re ject  is not  correct .    

I  have al ready expressed to the Chai rperson that  the 

message out  there – not  only to  me but  to many other 

people.  I t  is di fferent  i t  is not  the Chai rperson who is 

communicat ing wi th us.   I t  is not  the Chai rperson who is 

te l l ing us th is that  the message out  there is accusat ion and 

accusat ion and lambastes people as enablers of  state 

capture and given al l  sorts of  names.   But  i f  the idea f rom 

Counsel  is to say you were not  cooperat ing that  is not  

correct .  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  was simply asking you to look at  the 

document in l ight  of  your ear l ier evidence that  – that  people 

had made f indings against  you that  you had been tainted by 

state capture and a simple point  is  that  is not  apparent  f rom 

this let ter,  not  so? 
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MR MANTSHA:   I  th ink Chai r  I  – I  th ink I  have already 

explained mysel f .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you the… 

MR MANTSHA:   The reason why I  reacted the way I  have 

reacted.  I  do not  th ink i t  is – I  have to  repeat  because 

otherwise I  would be repeat ing what  I  have answered.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   No we are not  asking you to repeat  

anything – please do not  Mr Mantsha we have precious l i t t le 

t ime and we would l ike to move on.   So i f  you want  to say 

anything you have not  said al ready you welcome to do so 10 

subject  to the Chair ’s guidance but  I  certain ly do not  want 

you to repeat  anything.   Thank you.   Can I  now take you to  

page 321.   This is a further let ter f rom an off ic ia l  of  the 

commission.   This is dated ear l ier than the one we looked at  

ear l ier and that  is  the 19 February 2020, do you see that? 

MR MANTSHA:   I  do.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And that  was issued by – on the 

fol lowing page 322 by Ms Bridget  Tshabalala the then act ing 

secretary of  the Judicial  Commission,  correct? 

MR MANTSHA:   I  do.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Did you receive th is let ter? 

MR MANTSHA:   Yes the let ter was received.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes you received i t  in February did 

you? 

MR MANTSHA:   Ja – yes i t  was received in February.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .   And thereto the commission’s 

off ic ia l  then says in paragraph 2.  

“This let ter serves to conf i rm that  the 

commission is looking into al legat ions of  

state capture,  corrupt ion and f raud involving 

several  publ ic ent i t ies and other organs of  

state pursuant  to  the commission’s terms of  

reference.   As part  of  the invest igat ions into 

the affai rs of  Denel  SOC Limited and the 

greater  scope of  the state capture inquiry  we 10 

are invest igat ing var ious matters involving 

yoursel f . ”  

Would you agree that  they are not  saying we have 

made any f indings?  They simply invest igat ing al legat ions 

that  have been made by other,  correct? 

MR MANTSHA:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  And would you appreciate 

part icular ly as an experienced and qual i f ied at torney wi th 

knowledge of  const i tut ional ,  administ rat ive law and the l ike 

that  of  course is  a matter of  law.  Nobody can make f indings 20 

that  have any binding force in any event  in relat ion to the 

commission’s work other than the learned Chairperson of  the 

commission,  Correct? 

MR MANTSHA:   I t  is correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .  And then the – the act ing 
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secretary says this – paragraph 4.  

“We have compi led a l ist  of  quest ions 

at tached hereto as annexure A which you are 

requi red to respond to in the form of  an 

aff idavi t  detai l ing informat ion requi red 

including support ing documents where 

possible. ”  

And i t  says:  

“The commission urgent ly requi res the 

aff idavi t  to be del ivered wi thin ten…” 10 

I  see i t  say ten in the word and then the – in  

numerals in brackets 15 calendar days.   Be that  as i t  may.   

What then fol lows at  page 323 is an eight  page – sorry i t  is 

in fact  a six page document that  runs to page 329 set t ing out  

a number of  quest ions,  correct? 

MR MANTSHA:   Indeed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And you received these quest ions at  

the t ime you received the let ter that  came with i t?  

MR MANTSHA:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R ight .   And I  am just  going to  look at  20 

the headings so that  we see what  the quest ions re late to.   

Paragraph 1 on page 323.   I t  is the Gupta’s and Associates 

re lat ionship and then i t  says for example:  

“Who introduced you to the Gupta fami ly and 

what was the purpose of  the int roduct ion.”  
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The next  topic at  page 324 paragraph 2 is  the Denel  

VR Laser Joint  Venture and as an example 2.1 

“How and when did you become aware of  the 

Denel  Asia Joint  Venture based on your 

knowledge who introduced the idea or  

concept to the Denel  board provide 

evidence. ”  

And then on page 328 there is reference in paragraph 

3 to the Pakistan deal  and paragraph 4 to the Chad's deal .   

Now did you reply to th is? 10 

MR MANTSHA:   Chairperson I  d id not  reply.   I t  was purely a 

matter of  oversight .   The moment  in t ime when this let ter  

was received by my off ice there were very ser ious matters 

that  I  was handl ing for other people that  relates to the work 

of  th is commission.   I t  was an overs ight  on my s ide.   The 

let ter received;  the let ter is put  in the f i le and at  th is t ime 

there were matters that… 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Sorry please speak into the 

microphone.  

MR MANTSHA:   There were matters that  of  course 20 

preoccupied and i t  was an oversight  on my par t  and I  

omit ted.  And to that  Chairperson of  course I  am sorry that  

there was an oversight  on my part  and I  d id not  respond to 

th is.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So we should not  read into i t  any 
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del iberate refusal  to cooperate? 

MR MANTSHA:   Not  at  al l  Chai rperson.   I  th ink the next  

minute I  got  into this is when now the bundles are being 

sent .    

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR MANTSHA:   And as prepar ing wi th my legal  team of  

course we then picked this was not  answered.   But  as I  

explained Chai rperson my apologies to that  but  i t  was 

clear ly,  c lear ly overs ight .  Somet ime we forget  about  our  own 

personal  matters and focus on ourselves – on other  matters 10 

and this was a very di ff icul t  t ime in my – in my l i fe.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR MANTSHA:   When that  was received.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   No I  understand and I  empathise as a 

legal  pract i t ioner.   I t  is t rue that  somet imes we – we tend to 

give more t ime and at tent ion to cl ients’ interests and 

somet imes our  own.  But  th is was not  something l ike a 

plumber ’s bi l l  that  you had to pay.   Al though plumbers are 

also important  to deal  wi th.   This was – this was something 

very ser ious that  came on behal f  of  the Chai rperson of  a  20 

Judicial  Commission of  Inqui ry appointed no less than by the 

President  and relat ing to huge mat ters of  publ ic importance 

i t  just  seems to me a l i t t le problemat ic  that  you conf i rm 

having received this and over looking i t .  

MR MANTSHA:   Wel l  Chairperson I  cannot say more than 
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the apologies that  I  have given.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay.    

MR MANTSHA:   And the reasons for me not  to react  and to 

[00:08:41] .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay thank you.   Alr ight  thank you Mr 

Mantsha can I  just  before we leave this.   Were you deal ing 

wi th cl ients in your  professional  capaci ty  as an at torney to 

assist  them in relat ion processes of  th is commission 

concerning those cl ients? 

MR MANTSHA:   Wel l  amongst  other th ings yes.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .   Okay thank you.   Now is  i t  a lso 

correct  that  we as the legal  team requested you to cooperate 

wi th the legal  team in preparat ion for  th is  hear ing by 

consul t ing wi th us? 

MR MANTSHA:   Wel l  I  got  that  request  Chairperson t rue but  

I  am suff ic ient ly represented a very senior at torney on my 

side and a very experienced senior  counsel .   My at torney 

responded to say no whatever you want you can tel l  us and 

then we can look at  that .   There was no idea of  t ry ing not  to  

cooperate.   There have been correspondences between my 20 

at torney and the commission as far as that  request  is 

concerned.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   I  would l ike to ask you one f inal  

point  about  the level  of  cooperat ion or the level  at  which you 

may have cooperated or not  cooperated and that  is th is.   
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When you look at  the fact  – these facts you do not  respond 

at  al l  due to an overs ight  you say to a very detai led l ist  of  

quest ions which as the Chairperson – sorry deal ing wi th  

matters which the Chairperson has al ready referred to as 

something that  the commission would have welcomed i f  you 

had assisted f rom the beginning.  I t  could have saved some 

t ime.  

 Secondly the fact  that  when you d id cooperate and 

we thank you for  that  by providing the three aff idavi ts that  

we have taken you to they are extremely br ief .   In fact  very 10 

sparse.   I  can give you as an example at  the other end of  the 

spectrum for  example a wi tness who test i f ied yesterday Mr 

Burger who – who himsel f  has been the subject  of  a number 

of  al legat ions and he fel t  – he fel t  he was innocent and 

wanted to c lear his name.  He put  in an aff idavi t .   I  bel ieve i t  

was the main aff idavi t  was 188 pages just  the aff idavi t  let  

a lone many pages of  annexures.   That  may be an extreme 

example because others have given more l ike 30/40 pages 

whatever.    

 That  the thi rd point  is that  when we as the legal  team 20 

asked to consul t  wi th you you did not  consul t .   I t  is t rue that  

your at torney wrote back – did give a response at  least  that  

was not  over looked and indicated i f  there was anything 

speci f ic we could raise i t  wi th them but  not  to have a 

consul tat ion.  I t  just  seems to – sorry I  wi l l  g ive you a chance 
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to respond may I  just  f in ish the quest ion.  

 Can I  just  suggest  to you that  unl ike many other  

wi tnesses not  al l… 

MR MANTSHA:   My apologies Counsel .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Not  a l l  wi tnesses in th is commission 

both in relat ion to  the Denel  st ream and other st reams.  The 

commission has had a range of  vary ing responses or non-

responses f rom witnesses i t  just  seems that  your response 

appears to have been very patchy.   Please respond. 

MR MANTSHA:   Chairperson what is happening I  th ink Mr 10 

Burger e luded in his aff idavi t .   What these invest igators who 

are employed by the commission they interrogate people to 

accept  whatever narrat ive they are coming wi th.  

 So I  of  course do not  want to subject  mysel f  in unfair  

process.   I t  is not  correct  that  there was no reason for me 

not  to consul t  wi th the commission.   The reasons given by 

the commission were not  such that  we can form a conclusion 

that  look the commission is out  here;  i t  is asking us this 

informat ion because of  very good reasons.  

 So there has been nul l i f ied,  there has been people 20 

being put  under very ser ious interrogat ion.   And of  course I  

d id not  want to subject  mysel f  to  that .   I  have got  a legal  

team which is capable of  whether  i t  is  500 pages of  an 

aff idavi t  we can do but  in conclus ion Chair  i f  a l l  of  th is is  

meant to show that  I  d isrespected th is commission that  is not  
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t rue.  

 I  cooperated to  an extent  on the basis of  the 

informat ion that  I  have.   I  d id not  of  course want to  expose 

mysel f  to what I  regard as unfair  tact ics by some of  the 

commission’s invest igators.   So I  d id not  want to get  

involved.   But  at  no stage as I  sa id Chai r  when you 

explained to me and i f  that  was the message that  everyone 

out  there is get t ing as the Chai r  has explained we would 

have been the f i rst  day came here wi th loads and loads of  

th ings and say Chai rperson I  want to share th is wi th you.    10 

 So again i f  Counsel  is t ry ing to say I  d id not  

cooperate wi th the commission i t  is  not  correct .   On the face 

of  other documents that  I  might  not  have responded to I  

profoundly apologise Chai rperson.   Here I  am. I  am here to  

engage.  I  am here to expla in the part  of  my board.   I  am 

here to explain my part .   I  am here to share whatever 

experience that  I  have that  might  be relevant  to what the 

commission is  looking for.   And I  am here in good fai th.   That  

is what I  can say Chairperson.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Wel l  on behal f  of  the legal  team may 20 

we say we commend you at  least  for coming today and we 

thank you for that .   And can you conf i rm that  you wi l l  

cooperate ful ly wi th the quest ion ings – the quest ion ing that  

we are going to put  to you? 

MR MANTSHA:   Wel l  wi th respect  Chai rperson I  mean I  do 
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not  th ink I  have to  answer that .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay.   When you refer to interrogat ion 

of  course that  is a term that  for example in the apartheid era 

had terr ib le  connotat ions of  torture and so forth.   You in fact  

have never been interviewed by the invest igators,  not  so? 

MR MANTSHA:   Ja but  I… 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Is that  correct? 

MR MANTSHA:   I t  is correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So you have not  actual ly been 

interrogated.   In  fact  you said you did not  want to  subject 10 

yoursel f  to interrogat ion,  correct? 

MR MANTSHA:   But  yes I  have read the evidence of  people 

who have been subjected l ike Burger who descr ibed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes but  that  is not  your own personal  

knowledge, is i t?  

MR MANTSHA:   Wel l  I  would not  –  I  would not  – i t  is not  my 

personal  knowledge.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR MANTSHA:   But  he would not  have said that  i f  that  was 

not  correct .   20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And jus t  a  f ina l  po in t  on  th is .   The  

request  fo r  the  consu l ta t ion  tha t  I  was re fer r i ng  to  ear l ie r  

tha t  was made by  the  lega l  team was not  made  by  the 

invest iga to rs .   There  is  an  invest iga t ion  team and  a  lega l  

team  In  fac t  tha t  w i l l  be  c lear  i f  no t  to  your  own lega l  team 
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i t  wou ld  have been c lear  very  eas i l y  f rom a  –  any  casua l  

look  a t  the  –  a t  the  commiss ion ’s  webs i te .  

 Now we were  the  ones as  the  lega l  team ask ing  you  

to  coopera te  by  way o f  a  consu l ta t ion  wh ich  d id  no t  take  

p lace.   So sure l y  any perce ived  –  any perce ived heavy  

handedness on the  par t  o f  invest iga tors  tha t  you yourse l f  

had not  persona l ly  rece ived shou ld  be  su re ly  i r re levant  to  

a  lega l  team three members  o f  the  Bar  want ing  to  consu l t  

w i th  you.   And ins tead we are  s imp ly  to ld  in  an  emai l  we l l  i f  

you  want  to  ra ise  anyth ing  spec i f i ca l l y  do  i t  by  way o f  10 

emai l  bu t  we are  no t  go ing  to  jo in  you in  a  consu l ta t ion  

even i f  as  we permi t ted  they had come a long  to  the  

consu l ta t ion .   We were  qu i te  happy.    

We had p len ty  o f  consu l ta t ions  w i th  var ious  

w i tnesses where  they have accompanied by  the i r  lega l  

rep resenta t i ves  and we have  heard  ou t  the  lega l  

rep resenta t i ves  i f  they  had any d i f f i cu l t ies .   I t  jus t  seems 

to  us  as  the  lega l  team to  be  a  l i t t le  d isappo in t ing  and  

concern ing  tha t  the  a t t i tude on your  par t  has been  so  

res i s tan t  and so  susp ic ious about  the  commiss ion  and i t s  20 

work .  

MR MANTSHA:   Wel l  Cha i rperson  I  cannot  say  more  than  

what  I  have sa id .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   A l r igh t  thank you.  

MR MANTSHA:   I  –  I  have coopera ted  to  an  ex ten t  where  I  
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thought  my lega l  pos i t ion  is  and I  have not  obst ruc ted  the  

work  o f  th is  commiss ion .   I  am here .   I  am here  to  exp la in  

what  I  know to  the  commiss ion .  

 I  have a l ready to ld  you Cha i rpe rson tha t  the  manner  

in  wh ich  th ings have been done is  such tha t  i t  –  peop le  

resent  i t  because e i ther  l ack  o f  the  reasons o r  a  p roper  

exp lanat ion  was [00 :18 :39] .   So I  do  no t  th ink  I  shou ld  

come here  and t ry  to  go  to  your  th ings.   I t  i s  su f f i ce  

Cha i rperson to  say I  have been  here  a lso  represent ing  

o ther  peop le .    10 

So I  am not  –  I  am not  say ing  I  do  no t  recogn ise  the  

commiss ion  or  undermin ing  the  au thor i t y  o f  the  commiss ion  

or  the  Cha i rperson.   I  have rep resented peop le  in  th is  

commiss ion .   I  am s t i l l  represent ing  peop le  in  th is  

commiss ion .   And  there  have been  a f f idav i t s  we have been 

send ing ,  there  have been cor respondence tha t  they have  

been send ing  in  my capac i ty  as  an  a t to rney so  the re  is  no  

anyth ing .    

I f  I  d isagree w i th  a  request  Cha i rperson and we  

look a t  the  request  and by  the  way  fo r  a  lega l  team to  be  in  20 

th is  commiss ion  somebody has to  pay.   Fo r  a  lega l  team to  

be  in  consu l ta t ion  w i th  the  commiss ion  l ega l  adv isors  

somebody has to  pay i t .   So I  –  tha t  cannot  be  used to  say 

I  am obst ruc t i ve  or  I  am not  coopera t ing .   So I  cannot  say  

more  than what  I  have exp la ined Cha i rperson.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:   A l r igh t  thank you Mr  Mantsha.   May 

we now dea l  w i th  some o f  the  events  tha t  took p lace in  

re la t ion  to  your  cha i rpersonsh ip  o f  the  board  o f  Dene l .   I f  

we can take  you to  one o f  your  a f f idav i t s  –  i f  we can take  

you to  page 331.   You there  a re  dea l ing  as  we have  

es tab l i shed a l ready w i th  a  response to  var ious s ta tements  

made by  Mr  Sa lugee in  h is  a f f idav i t  and what  you  say i f  I  

may quote  in to  the  record  pa ragraph 6  you say:  

“ I  was appo in ted  by  the  then Cab ine t  o f  the  

Repub l ic  o f  South  A f r i ca  as  a  cha i rperson  10 

and I  deny tha t  I  was appo in ted  to  capture  

Dene l  fo r  the  benef i t  o f  the  Gupta  fami ly.   

Long befo re  my appo in tment  as  the  board  

cha i rperson Mr  Sa lugee had a l ready s igned  

an ag reement  on  beha l f  o f  p resumably  

Dene l  to  par tner  w i th  VR Laser  a  company 

assoc ia ted  w i th  the  Gupta  fami ly. ”  

Now there  are  you re fer r ing  to  the  par tnersh ip  be tween  

Dene l  and VR Laser  i n  re la t ion  to  the  As ia  dea l?   I s  tha t  

r igh t?  20 

MR MANTSHA:   No.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   What  a re  you re fer r i ng  to  then?  

MR MANTSHA:   Wel l  Cha i rpe rson  what  I  am re fe r r i ng  here  

is  VR Laser  had a l ready s igned an agreement  o r  a  

memorandum wi th  Dene l  and VR Laser  was  a l ready  
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invo l ved in  Hoefys ter  Pro jec t  wh ich  was l i ke  –  i s  i t  e leven  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Sor ry  invo lved w i th?   Jus t  p lease t ry  

and speak up a  b i t?  

MR MANTSHA:   The South  A f r i can Defence  Force  

appo in ted  Dene l  to  execute  a  pro jec t  ca l led  Hoefys ter.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR MANTSHA:   And th is  was o f  course  long be fore  my 

appo in tment .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So  a re  you re fer r ing  to  the  con t rac t  –  

there  has been a  great  dea l  o f  ev idence we do not  need to  10 

cover  aga in .  

MR MANTSHA:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Un less  i t  i s  necessary.   There  was a  –  

there  were  th ree  cont rac ts  tha t  we  have been dea l i ng  w i th  

p r imar i l y  in  ev idence the  past  few  weeks.   The one is  the  

Hoefys ter  P la t fo rm Hu l ls  cont rac t .   The second was a  

s ing le  supp ly  con t rac t  be tween DLS and VR Laser  and the  

th i rd  was a  s im i la r  s ing le  supp ly  cont rac t  be tween DVS and  

VR Laser.   You aware  o f  those th ree  cont rac ts?  

MR MANTSHA:   Yes.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   A re  you re fer r i ng  here  to  the 

agreement  re la t ing  to  the  Hoefys te r  P la t fo rm Hu l ls?  

MR MANTSHA:   I  am re fer r i ng  here  to  the  f i rs t  agreement .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes wh ich  one?  

MR MANTSHA:   That  I  have  been to ld .   The f i rs t  
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agreement  wh ich  Dene l  has en tered w i th  VR.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes wh ich  one does tha t  re la te  to  o f  

the  th ree  Mr  Mantsha t ry  and he lp  me? 

MR MANTSHA:   Wel l  I  th ink  Counse l  i f  we take  the  

sequence o f  th is  re la t ionsh ip .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR MANTSHA:   Be tween Dene l  and VR Laser.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR MANTSHA:   You w i l l  then see  tha t  the  f i rs t  agreement  

wh ich  was s igned between VR Laser  and –  sor ry  10 

Cha i rperson –  be tween VR Laser  and Dene l  was  s igned  

some t ime before  our  appo in tment .   I  am re fer r ing  to  tha t  

f i rs t  agreement  wh ich  Dene l  and VR s igned.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .  

MR MANTSHA:   That  i s  the  ag reement  I  am re fer r i ng  to .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  fu l l y  unders tand tha t  I  am s imply  

qu ick l y  t ry ing  to  ge t  to  the  po in t .   Was tha t  the  agreement ,  

the  f i rs t  agreement  tha t  re la ted  to  the  Hoefys ter  P la t fo rm 

Hu l ls?   I s  tha t  what  you re fe r r ing  to?   That  i s  my 

unders tand ing  o f  the  fac ts  bu t  i t  i s  your  ev idence not  m ine.   20 

So i f  I  am wrong  the  answer  i s  no  i t  i s  xyz .   I f  the  answer  

i s  yes  the  answer  i s  yes .   I s  i t  the  P la t fo rm Hul ls  cont rac t  

o r  i s  i t  the  s ing le  supp ly  cont rac ts?  

MR MANTSHA:   Wel l  my unders tand ing  o f  the  ag reement  

wh ich  was s igned i t  was a  re la t ionsh ip  agreement  
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par tnersh ip  agreement .   Yes i t  cove red the  Hoefys ter  

Pro jec t .   Th is  i s  my unders tand ing  as  we entered in to  the  

company.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And when you entered i n to  the  

company you say ing  tha t  had a l ready been conc luded some 

t ime before?  

MR MANTSHA:   Yes indeed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And we are  in  agreement  w i th  you the  

Hoefys ter  cont rac t  was s igned in  2014 befo re  you  s ta r ted  

in  Ju l y  2015.   R igh t  thank you.   Now when you say you  10 

were  appo in ted  as  cha i rpe rson by  the  then Cab ine t  o f  the  

Repub l ic  tha t  was when the  Cab ine t  was cha i red  by  the  

then Pres ident  Mr  Jacob Zuma,  cor rec t?  

MR MANTSHA:   P res ident  Zuma yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   Now re ference has been made  

to  the  fac t  tha t  and i f  i t  i s  no t  a  fac t  you must  cor rec t  i t  

p lease tha t  a t  a  cer ta in  s tage you  have ac ted  o r  may s t i l l  

be  ac t ing  fo r  fo rmer  Pres ident  Zuma,  i s  tha t  cor rec t  as  an  

a t to rney?  

MR MANTSHA:   I  th ink  i t  i s  a  pub l i c  knowledge.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So  you conf i rm i t?  

MR MANTSHA:   O f  cou rse  i t  i s  [00 :25 :06] .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   Were  you ac t ing  as  Mr  –  

fo rmer  Pres ident  Zuma as h i s  a t to rney a t  th is  s tage when  

you were  appo in ted  as  the  cha i rpe rson o f  Dene l?  
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MR MANTSHA:   No.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Not .   When d id  tha t  come abou t?  

MR MANTSHA:   Wel l  I  –  I  ac ted  fo r  fo rmer  Pres ident  as  

f rom 2018 i f  I… 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   2018?  

MR MANTSHA:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So  tha t  was some years  a f te r  you 

were  appo in ted  as  cha i rperson o f  the  Dene l  board?  

MR MANTSHA:   In  fac t  a f te r  I  have le f t  them. 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   A f te r  you had  le f t  the  board  r i gh t  and 10 

tha t  was in  February  tha t  you le f t .  

MR MANTSHA:   Yes.  2018.   R igh t .   D id  you know the  

fo rmer  Pres ident  Zuma before  your  appo in tment?  

MR MANTSHA:   Wel l  knowing h im  how? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Or  in  any way?  You were  no t  as  h is  

a t to rney.   D id  you  know h im soc ia l l y  o r  th rough bus iness?  

MR MANTSHA:   O f  cou rse  I  knew Pres ident  Zuma.   I  know 

any o the r  bus iness to  do  w i th  h im.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  see .   And  what  was the  na ture  o f  

your  knowing h im?  Was i t  a  soc ia l  contac t  o r  bus iness 20 

contac t?  

MR MANTSHA:   Wel l  I  met  the  Pres ident  in  po l i t i ca l  

meet ings.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .  

MR MANTSHA:   And ja  tha t  was i t .  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay and  then fo rmer  Pres ident  

Zuma’s  son Duduzane have you ac ted  as  h i s  a t to rney?  

MR MANTSHA:   No.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   A t  any s tage?   Not  a t  a l l .  

MR MANTSHA:   No.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay thank you.   A l r igh t  now I  wou ld  

l i ke  to  –  you to  p lease then re fer  to  your  paragraph 7  a t  

page 331.   You say:  

“ I  do  no t  re  –  I  d id  no t  request  to  meet  Mr  Sa lugee I  d id  no t  

d i rec t  h im tha t  the  meet ing  wou ld  take  p lace a t  the  Gupta  10 

res idence.   My reco l lec t ion  o f  the  event  i s  tha t  Mr  Essa  

convened the  meet ing  and he requested me to  a t tend. ”  

Now th is  i s  re fe r r ing  to  ev idence tha t  Mr  Sa lugee gave 

prev ious l y  re la t ing  to  a  par t i cu la r  meet ing  a t  the  Gupta  

res idence in  the  suburb  o f  Saxonwold .   Now do you conf i rm 

tha t  you went  to  a  meet ing  a t  the  Gupta  res idence in  

Saxonwold?  

MR MANTSHA:   Wel l  Cha i rperson  f i rs t l y  le t  me cor rec t  the  

word ing  o f  th is  s ta tement .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes th is  i s  what… 20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   O f  your  a f f idav i t .  

MR MANTSHA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Because the  paragraph you wanted to  

cor rec t  here .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   R igh t .  
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MR MANTSHA:   Who requested who Cha i rpe rson.   I  do  no t  

reca l l  I  w i l l  make  a  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  on  tha t  desp i te  

many years  ago.   Whether  I  a t tended th is  meet ing  yes I  

d id .   I  a t tended th is  meet ing  a t  the  Gupta ’s  res idence.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   A l r igh t  thank you.   So when you sa id  

in  you r  a f f idav i t   

“ I  d id  no t  request  to  meet  Mr  Sa lugee”  

I s  i t  poss ib le  tha t  you may have you jus t  cannot  reca l l?  

MR MANTSHA:   O f  cou rse  i t  m igh t  have been poss ib le  tha t  

I  am the  one who  conveyed.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay.  

MR MANTSHA:   The meet ing  to  h im or  he  is  the  one who  

conveyed the  meet ing  to  h im.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   F ine .  

MR MANTSHA:   Or  Mr  Essa cou ld  have been the  one who 

conveyed the  meet ing .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay thank  you.   A t  th is  s tage were  

you a l ready the  cha i rperson o f  the  Dene l?  

MR MANTSHA:   A t  th is  s tage I  th ink  I  was.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  see .   So then I  wou ld  l i ke  to  go  back 20 

r igh t  to  the  ve ry  beg inn ing  before  you became Cha i rpe rson  

d id  you know Mr  Sa lugee a t  a l l?  

MR MANTSHA:   No I  d id  no t  know Mr  Sa lugee.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   D id  you meet  h im fo r  the  f i r s t  t ime 

when you became cha i rpe rson?  
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MR MANTSHA:   Wel l  I  th ink  when  we were  in  London and 

when we were  t ry ing  to  share  exper iences we then got  to  a 

poss ib i l i t y  tha t  we cou ld  have been met  –  we cou ld  have  

met  each o ther  a round 1992 in  a  par t i cu la r  po l i t i ca l  event .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .  

MR MANTSHA:   So  when I  was shar ing  my reco l lec t ion  o f  

the  event  so  he  a lso  descr ibed h is  and sa id  I  was  there .   

And there  i s  a  h igh  probab i l i t y  the  person I  have met  h im in  

1992 i t  i s  h im.   So –  bu t  beyond tha t  no .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And had you pr io r  to  your  appo in tment  10 

as  cha i rpe rson o f  the  Dene l  board  had any dea l ings w i th  

soc ia l  o r  bus iness or  po l i t i ca l  o r  anyth ing  w i th  any o f  the  

Gupta  fami ly  o r  the i r  bus iness assoc ia tes?  

MR MANTSHA:   Wel l  Cha i rpe rson as  I  have  a l ready 

ind ica ted  I  d id  met  the  Gup ta  fami ly.   They are  

s takeho lders  –  they were  s takeho lders  in  the  med ia  

indust ry.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   The media  indust ry?  

MR MANTSHA:   In  the  course  –  in  the  course  o f  my 

adv is ing  the  then  Min i s te r  o f  Communica t ion  yes I  d id  meet  20 

them befo re .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And that  inc luded thei r  ownership of  

the New Age . . . [ in tervenes]   

MR MANTSHA :    Yes,  yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And also ANN7 Television Stat ion.   Is 
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that  r ight? 

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Okay.   So you had met them.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Would you remember,  more or less,  when 

you met them for the f i rst  t ime?  

MR MANTSHA :    Wel l ,  Chai rperson I  would not  remember.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR MANTSHA :    I  would not  remember exact ly  the month,  

the date.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Maybe just  the year.  10 

MR MANTSHA :    No,  the year,  i t  is around 2014.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  around 2014?  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Okay thank you.   And at  that  s tage or  

any stage before you assumed the chairpersonship of  the 

Denel  Board,  had you had any deal ings social  or business or 

pol i t ical  or otherwise wi th Mr Sal im Essa? 

MR MANTSHA :    I  have known Mr Sal im Essa,  I  th ink,  as 

ear ly  as,  probably,  2014.   And I  d id not  have any deal ings 20 

wi th him except ,  you know, social  conversat ion and how are 

you and what have you.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Okay.   Would you descr ibe as your  

re lat ionship as a f r iendly one? 

MR MANTSHA :    With Mr Essa? 
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR MANTSHA :    Wel l ,  I  d id not  have a f r iendship wi th h im.   

Yes,  he is – Mr Essa is a very f r iendly guy.   So he would 

greet ,  he would engage people in a conversat ion.   So.   Ja,  

that  is al l  I  can say.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Were you aware that  Mr Sal im Essa 

was a close business associate of  the Gupta’s at  that  stage? 

MR MANTSHA :    Wel l ,  the t ime I  met him, of  course,  he was 

al ready related wi th them.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Now, I  have referred you to the 10 

passage in your aff idavi t  where you deal  wi th the meet ing at  

the Gupta residence in Saxonwold.  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Was that  one of  – was that  the only 

one that  ever took p lace at  thei r  residence or were there 

others that  you at tended meet ings at  their  residence in  

Saxonwold? 

MR MANTSHA :    This was my f i rst  and last  meet ing.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    So you only went to the Saxonwold 

res idence once? 20 

MR MANTSHA :    No,  no,  no.   I  am referr ing to th is matter.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR MANTSHA :    I  have been there several  t imes.   I  cannot  

te l l  you how many t imes but  I  have been there but  

. . . [ intervenes]   
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    Sorry,  then I  do not  qui te understand 

what you meant when you sa id i t  was the f i rst  and the last  

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR MANTSHA :    No.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    . . .meet ing at  the residence.  

MR MANTSHA :    This was the only meet ing and the last  

meet ing where there was a discussion which indirect ly  

re lated to Denel .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  see.  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And when was that?  Was that  before 

or af ter you had assumed the chai rpersonship of  Denel? 

MR MANTSHA :    Wel l ,  of  course,  i t  was af ter  I  was 

appointed.   I  am not  sure which month,  whatever  the things 

but  I  th ink i t  was af ter I  was appointed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    So you started,  as we have seen,  in  

July 2015.  

MR MANTSHA :    Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    One of  the people who at tended was 

Mr Salugee, correct? 20 

MR MANTSHA :    Yes,  Mr Salugee.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And he was there as the then DCEO of  

Denel ,  correct? 

MR MANTSHA :    Indeed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now we know that  you started in 



13 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 306 
 

Page 93 of 118 
 

July 2015.   We also know, unless you correct  me, that  

Mr Salugee was suspended in September 2015.   

MR MANTSHA :    Correct .   I  th ink so.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    So barely three months af ter you had 

started as chai rperson at  Denel .   Presumable,  you say you 

think i t  was af ter you started your chairpersonship.   And I  am 

not  t ry ing to t r ick you up on there.   I t  could not  have been 

af ter Mr Salugee was suspended, not  so?  I t  must  have been 

before his suspension.  

MR MANTSHA :    This meet ing? 10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR MANTSHA :    Okay.   I  th ink,  let  me just  put  something in 

perspect ive here.   How I  understand the rela t ionship 

between Mr Salugee and Mr Essa.   My understanding of  the 

re lat ionship is,  they come from the same local i ty.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Sorry,  you say,  they come f rom? 

MR MANTSHA :    They come f rom the same local i ty.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR MANTSHA :    From the same area.   They were f r iends 

and f r iends way before f rom where they come from.   And as I  20 

understand,  Mr Salugee with his exposure to the defence 

business helped Mr Essa to negot iate the sale of  the VR 

Laser South Af r ica.    

 So there was that  cordial  relat ionship according to my 

understanding of  where they come from and where they were 
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going.    

 And again,  I  repeat  Chai rperson.   I  assumed that  the 

f r iendship and everything meant wel l .   I ,  of  course there is a  

rebut table presumpt ion that  we al l  meant wel l  unt i l  we 

proved otherwise.    

 So that  is the context  of  the relat ionship,  as I  

understood i t ,  between the two.   A long relat ionship,  f rom the 

same area.   Mr Salugee helped Mr Essa to  acqui re the VR 

Laser business.   That  is my understanding Chairperson.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now Mr Mantsha,  d id Mr Salugee ever 10 

disclosed to you anything that  might  have been improper 

coming f rom the Gupta fami ly or their  associates conveyed 

to h im in that  pr ior relat ionship he had wi th them? 

MR MANTSHA :    Wel l ,  I  th ink – I  should say that  I  got  along 

very wel l  wi th Mr Salugee and we had number of  one-on-one 

discussions.   We would make, we would have coffee.   I  was 

support ing him, he was support ing me.  I  d id not ,  as I  said,  I  

mean, the relat ionship I  assumed i t  meant wel l .   So was not  

suspect ing that  people are meet ing because there is  

anything.   I  was not  suspect ing Mr Salugee of  anyth ing.    20 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  would l ike to read to you 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sorry.   I  am not  sure that  your 

answered the quest ion.   I  th ink the quest ion was whether 

Mr Salugee ever  disclosed to you anything improper that 
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Mr Sal im Essa may have or the Gupta’s may have asked of  

him.  

MR MANTSHA :    Chai rperson,  I  do not  remember anything 

l ike that .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay.  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I f  I  may draw your at tent ion to  one of  

the aff idavi ts that  Mr Salugee has provided to th is 

Commission.   Is  i t  correct  that  you were asked by the 

Commission to have regard to his aff idavi ts and in part icu lar 10 

to part icular passages,  to pay part icular at tent ion to that?  Is 

that  correct? 

MR MANTSHA :    I t  is correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And that  is why you,  in fact ,  responded 

to some of  those in the aff idavi t  that  I  have take you to that  

you have signed,  correct? 

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Okay.   I  would just  l ike to read to you,  

I  am not  going to take you to the actual  aff idavi t .   But  Chai r,  

i t  is at  the Denel  Bundle 10 at  page 801.   I  do not  bel ieve i t  20 

is necessary for your reg ist rar . . . [ in tervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  okay.   Then . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    . . . to br ing i t  out .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  do not  want to waste t ime and I  do 



13 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 306 
 

Page 96 of 118 
 

not  th ink this  should be remotely  controvers ial .   This is  what  

Mr Salugee said.   I  am simply going to ask Mr Mantsha i f  –  

when he says this,  i f  that  was ever conveyed to him, 

Mr Mantsha.    

 This is what Mr Salugee said Mr Mantsha.  

“ I t  was Rajesh Tony Gupta who asked me why I  d id  

not  “ take money l ike everyone else” .  

As I  have indicated,  I  re jected his advances.  

I  assumed he meant that  there were individuals who 

at  request ,  th is  was contained in my or ig inal  10 

statement. ”  

 Did he relate to you at  any stage,  part icular ly whi le you 

were chai rperson of  the organisat ion,  that  Mr Gupta had 

speci f ic – Mr Tony Gupta had speci f ica l ly asked him,  

Salugee:  Why do you not  take money l ike everyone else?  

Had he ever to ld you that? 

MR MANTSHA :    No,  no.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    What do you think about i t  now, now 

that  you have heard about i t?  Presumable,  you must  have 

seen that  in his aff idavi t .   Am I  r ight?  Or am I  te l l ing you 20 

this for the f i rst  t ime? 

MR MANTSHA :    Wel l ,  of  course,  the a l legat ion re lates to  

Mr Gupta.   I t  does not  relate to me.  So.   Of course,  I  real ly  

do not  have to answer that .   But  al l  I  can say,  i t  was never 

conveyed to me.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   With respect ,  I  th ink i t  is real ly  

for the Chairperson to decide whether you can be expected 

to answer the quest ion.   Why I  suggest  to  you that  perhaps 

you should is th is.    

 And here,  I  am not  put t ing to you,  for example,  that  the 

Gupta ’s said to you:   Why do you not  take mosey?  Let  alone 

that  the Gupta’s paid you any money.   That  is not  the focus 

of  mu quest ion remotely.    

 What I  am saying is,  that  Mr Salugee has g iven evidence 

in the Commission that  th is is what  he was told by one of  the 10 

Gupta ’s.   The evidence has also been heard by this 

Commission that  the Gupta’s were heavi ly involved in the VR 

Laser business.    

 The omission has also heard ev idence and you,  in fact ,  

touched on this  and we are going to come back to i t  but  

there was also a part icular meet ing at  the Gupta residence in  

which you and others part ic ipated,  discussing business 

deals.    

 The Commission has also heard var ious evidence that  a  

number of  t ransact ions were concluded between VR Laser,  20 

owned by Mr Sal im Essa,  one of  the business associates and 

control led as part  of  the Oak Bay Group of  Companies.    

 But  a number of  very lucrat ive cont racts were concluded 

between Denel  and VR Laser.   Some of  them may wel l  have 

been concluded outside the t ime that  you were the 
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chairperson.   I  accept  that   Let  us not  go into that .    

 May we please go into,  rea l ly,  the thrust  of  my quest ion 

which is th is.   Does i t  not  concern you now that ,  par t icular ly  

where the spot l ight  of  the Commission is now being placed 

on,  what  happened at  Denel ,  that  behind the scenes of  these 

var ious t ransact ions,  one of  the Gupta ’s had,  according to 

Mr Salugee, approached him to t ry and encourage him to 

personal ly benef i t  by receiving money,  which Mr Salugee 

says he resisted.    

 But  at  least ,  are you not  concerned with the benef i t  of  10 

hindsight ,  knowing that  Mr Salugee had said this,  that  

apparent ly,  accord ing to Mr Salugee, he was di rect ly  

encouraged by Mr  Gupta to accept  money.   In other words a 

br ibe.    

 Does that  not  give you concern that  t ransact ions that  

were being presented to  you and reported on to you at  the 

level  of  the board which you chai red may have been tainted 

by offers of  br ides?  Not  to you but  to others.   Does that  

concern you? 

MR MANTSHA :    Wel l ,  I  th ink Chai r.   Let  me reply as fol lows.   20 

I t  is my concern i rrespect ive of  anyone for off ic ia ls of  publ ic 

ent i t ies to accept  br ibes.   I  am complete ly against  that .   So i f  

indeed a si tuat ion l ike that  had occurred,  of  course,  I  am 

concerned about i t .    

 But  just  to go further.   There was no s i tuat ion under my 
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leadership of  the board,  in  my board,  where there was a 

contract  which was presented to us and we were supposed 

to approve that  contract .   Never.    

 Of  course,  there is a  Denel  Asia matter which relate to  

Mr Essa as a shareholder of  that  company.   And just  to put  i t  

into proper context .    

 I  am not  here to speculate Chai rperson about what other  

people said that  other said to them.  I  th ink i t  is  up to the 

Chairperson to look at  that  k ind of  evidence,  whether in 

terms of  the mandate of  the person is someth ing that  the 10 

Chairperson should express anything.    

 So I  am not  going to speculate,  other than to say,  I  am 

completely against  i t .   Have I  known about  that ,  I  would have 

sharply  raised that  matter but  I  cannot comment in a matter 

l ike that  as a matter of  fact  that  i t  happened.   

 I  do not  know i t  happened.  I  th ink Mr Gupta must  be 

given that  benef i t  of  doubt  to actual ly put  his version.    

CHAIRPERSON :    I . . .   Certainly,  we do not  want to 

speculate,  number one but  number two,  the quest ion or  your 

previous quest ion that  Mr Kennedy had asked,  I  th ink was 20 

legi t imate to say,  did Mr Salugee ever share wi th  you or 

report  to you what he has to ld  th is Commission had 

happened, namely that  Mr Tony Gupta sought to get  him to 

agree to take money.   So that  was a legi t imate quest ion,  to  

say:   Did he ever report  something l ike this to you?  
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MR MANTSHA :    No,  Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay al r ight .    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Thank you,  Chai r.   Would you not  

agree Mr Mantsha that  you as the Group Chief  Execut ive 

Off icer. . .   Oh,  sorry the Group Chairperson of  the board 

would have expected Mr Salugee,  i f  th is had happened, in 

his capaci ty as Group CEO, to have reported to you? 

MR MANTSHA :    Wel l  . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Surely,  th is is  the sort  of  th ing you that  

you would expect ing to report .  10 

MR MANTSHA :    Chai rperson,  f i rst ly.   We al l  have got  a 

legal  obl igat ion to  report  cr ime to the pol ice.   The f i rst  th ing I  

would have expected Mr Salugee to do,  was to go to the 

pol ice and report  that  so and so has at tempted to br ibe me 

and these are the reasons and opened a pol ice case.   I  

would have expected that .    

 And of  course,  I  would have expected Mr Salugee to 

ra ise i t  wi th  me, to say look this is what is what is  

happening.    

 But  what I  know Chairperson is that  the only meet ing 20 

that  I  have at tended when Mr Salugee was present  and 

Mr Essa was present  in the Gupta res idence.   There was a 

discussion about Mr Salugee assis t ing Mr Essa to buy out  

the pr ivate shareholders of  LMT.  At  that  stage Chairperson,  

I  d id not  even know what LMT stood for.   So.    
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 And that  discussion was fa i r ly in terms of  what I  was 

l istening there.   The discussion started to that  Mr Essa 

wanted to buy out  the shareholders of  LMT who were pr ivate 

shareholders and Mr Salugee was assist ing him as he 

assisted him, according to my understanding Chai rperson.    

 I  was not  there when i t  happened but  my understanding 

is.   Yes,  he assis ted him with VR Laser.   My understanding 

is,  he is assisted.   In that  meet ing,  they were discussing 

assist ing Mr Essa wi th LMT shares.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  let  me ask you this quest ion.   I  have 10 

seen how you have deal t  wi th that  meet ing in your aff idavi t .   

I  th ink you said you were asked to make comments and you 

had no comments because you d id not  even know what LMT 

was at  that  stage and al l  of  that .   Did you have any 

appreciat ion of  why you were asked to at tend that  meet ing?  

MR MANTSHA :    Wel l ,  I  th ink,  I  understood why I  had to 

at tend the meet ing.   You know out  of  the pr ivate discussion 

that  I  had wi th Mr Salugee was:   Chai r,  look we worked 

together and we then agreed that  i f  the exposure to external  

people is no good and then I  would t ry as much as possible 20 

to be a buffer in terms of  h im not  engaging in the external  

forces because i t  a lways create pressure to a Chief  

Execut ive.   So we had that  k ind of  understanding.   And I  

went there,  blank as I  was.    

 Of  course,  I  could not  comment because I  would 
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otherwise be very stupid because I  d id not  know the issue.  

But  for me, i t  was more for  my Chief  Execut ive Off icer that  I  

agreed that  external  pressures,  we wi l l  deal  wi th i t .   Let  us 

avoid meet ings which might  put  pressures to you.   And that  

was the way we wanted to work.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So,  I  just  want to make sure I  understand 

this.   Are you saying that  there had been a d iscussion 

between yoursel f  and Mr Salugee along those l ines on how 

to handle these requests for meet ings by certain people f rom 

the outside people?  Or are you saying there had been a 10 

discussion between the two of  you?  

MR MANTSHA :    Wel l ,  Chai rperson the state-owned 

companies operate wi thin a pol i t ical  environment.   And we 

discussed that  look . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    We, being yoursel f  and Mr Salugee?  

MR MANTSHA :    And Mr Salugee.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MR MANTSHA :    But  I  would deal  wi th the pol i t ics of  i t  and 

concent rate on the business.   So we were working on that  

basis to say,  I  would deal  whomever the pol i t ic ian is,  I  wi l l  20 

deal  wi th that  rather than for you to have pressure.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Now I  may be misunderstand.   I  thought  

that  that  meet ing was qui te  ear ly  in  your term.   Actual ly,  

when Mr Salugee gave evidence,  the impression I  have of  

his evidence is that  the meet ing – I  th ink he spoke about two 
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meet ings i f  I  am not  mistaken that  he said he had at tended 

at  the Gupta residence in which you were present .   I  may be 

mistaken.    

 But  the f i rst  one,  at  least ,  i f  there were two.   He said Mr 

Sal im Essa was the f i rst  person to  te l l  h im about you being 

the new chairperson of  the new board.    

 I  th ink he said,  actual ly,  Mr Sal im Essa put  i t  to him on 

the basis that  he wanted Mr Salugee to meet the new person 

or  somebody who is going to be the new chairperson of  the 

board or a new chai rperson of  the board.    10 

 But  certainly,  I  gained the impression that  one,  he did 

not  know, heard of  being told by Mr Sal im Essa that  you 

were going to be the new chairperson or you were al ready 

the new chai rperson of  the board.   That  is the impression I  

got  f rom his aff idavi t  which you have read.   I  do not  know 

whether you got  the same impression.  

MR MANTSHA :    Wel l ,  Chai rperson the real i ty is.   The 

appointment was made by cabinet .   I  am not  sure i f  i t  was 

May or Apri l ,  whatever the case.   That  cabinet  decision,  I  

th ink 24 May or whatever the case may be.    20 

 So,  of  course,  people in the space new that  the cabinet  

has approved a new board.   I  cannot conf i rm the discussion 

between Mr Essa and Mr Salugee.  I  was not  there.   Al l  I  can 

say is what came to my knowledge.  Immediately,  when the 

former,  Mr Salugee knew that  I  was appointed,  we started to  
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have interact ions.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Even before the meet ing in which involved 

Mr Salem Essa,  yoursel f  and Mr Salugee?  

MR MANTSHA :    Chair  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Or you might  not  recal l?  

MR MANTSHA :    Sorry,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Or you might  not  recal l  the sequence.  

MR MANTSHA :    I  cannot recal l  the sequence,  which 

meet ing came f i rst .   That  I  cannot recal l .   We had our  

int roduct ion meet ings and we discussed where we want to  10 

work,  what  we expect  f rom one another and we real ly st ruck 

a very good relat ionship.   I  l iked Mr Salugee.  I  th ink – I  

respect  him.  I  th ink he did the same to me.  So we were 

get t ing wel l  together.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Is your recol lect ion that  your f i rst  

interact ion of  him was independent f rom Mr Sal im Essa?  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Or you cannot remember?  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  was independent of  Mr Sal im Essa?  20 

MR MANTSHA :    Look,  I  th ink. . .   Chai r,  you are asking me a 

very di ff icul t  quest ion because,  as I  have already said to  

you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR MANTSHA :    Mr Essa and Mr Salugee . . . [ intervenes]   
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CHAIRPERSON :    They knew each other.  

MR MANTSHA :    They knew each other.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR MANTSHA :    And he was st rangely(?) . . . [ indist inct ]  

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR MANTSHA :    What they were talk ing between 

themselves,  I  do not  know.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes.  

MR MANTSHA :    I  do not  know.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR MANTSHA :    But  when I  met  Mr Salugee for the f i rst  

t ime, he has never ment ioned to me that  he has requested to 

meet me because of  Mr Essa.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MR MANTSHA :    I  took i t ,  he is meet ing me as the new 

chairperson of  the board.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR MANTSHA :    And even the d iscussions we had were 

conf ined to the t ru th.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MR MANTSHA :    How are we going to work together.   He 

br iefed me about  certain chal lenges that  the company was 

going through.  I t  was not  about  other people.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  
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MR MANTSHA :    Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   Mr Kennedy.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Thank you,  Chai r.   I  just  want us 

before we get  to  the t ime where we are going to adjourn.   

Just  to pick up a point  that  you have raised ear l ier.    

 And that  is that  Mr Salugee did not  te l l  you that  he had 

been told by Tony Gupta that  why do you not  take the money 

l ike the rest  of  you,  and you conf i rmed that  that  was not  to ld 

to you and you only discovered that  in the course of  what 

has come out  in th is Commission.    10 

 Can I  just  ask you hypothet ica l ly?  I f  you just  put  

yoursel f  in th is si tuat ion just  to assist  the Commission.   I f  

you had known that  f rom Mr Salugee, i f  and when you 

assumed your posi t ion as chai rperson of  the board and the 

CEO had disclosed,  as he should have,  that  he had been 

made this improper approach by Mr Tony Gupta in the 

context  of  VR Laser a Gupta associated company doing 

business wi th Denel .    

 Presumable,  you would have taken that  ser iously.   And 

secondly,  qui te apart  f rom what Mr Salugee should have 20 

done by laying a cr iminal  charge or  a complaint  to the South 

Afr ican Pol ice.    

 Presumable,  i t  would have affected your at t i tude as 

Denel  chai rperson as to whether  any business should be 

done by Denel  wi th VR Laser or any associat ive of  the 
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Gupta ’s i f  th is sor t  of  improper offer  was being made.  Would 

you agree? 

MR MANTSHA :    No,  of  course I  would have been opposed 

to that .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR MANTSHA :    Vigorously.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR MANTSHA :    And I  would not  want the business to be 

associated wi th those kinds of  th ings.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Exact ly.   Part icular ly,  because,  number 10 

one,  legal ly  you should not  be doing business as a state-

owned inst i tut ion wi th anybody who is  offer ing br ibes to your  

most  senior member of  management ,  correct? 

MR MANTSHA :    Wel l ,  t rue but  I  th ink where you are get t ing 

to . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Wel l ,  do not  worry where I  am get t ing 

to.  

MR MANTSHA :    Ja,  but  let  me answer you because 

. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Just  answer the quest ion where I  was 20 

at  not  where I  am get t ing to.  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.   Because I  have al ready answered 

you.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Okay.  

MR MANTSHA :    Whether a br ibe was offered by Mr Gupta or 
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anybody to Mr Salugee.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR MANTSHA :    I  do not  know.   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR MANTSHA :    You are asking me to a hypothet ical  

s i tuat ion.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Exact ly.  

MR MANTSHA :    I  have al ready explained to you that  I  am 

opposed of  those act iv i t ies.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .  10 

MR MANTSHA :    And anyone where those act iv i t ies 

happened, i f  that  person is law-abiding,  would go to the 

pol ice before he goes to anybody else.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  understand that  but  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MANTSHA :    That  person would report  i t  to the 

author i t ies and that  person would report  i t  to the board.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Exact ly.  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.   My board has got  no record of  that  

report .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    No,  I  understand your evidence and 20 

f rankly,  wi th respect ,  you do not  need to repeat  i t .    

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    We have heard your evidence that  i t  

was not  reported and my quest ion is put  in a hypothet ical  

basis.   What i f  he had done that?   
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 So the one thing would be that  legal ly i t  would not  be 

appropriate for a  state inst i tut ion to do business wi th any 

ent i ty that  is offer ing br ibes to i ts senior employees or to any 

employee for that  matter.    

 There was a second aspect ,  not  so?  And that  is th is.   

That  surely you do not  want to reputat ional  damage to the 

person. . .  Oh, sorry.   To the ent i ty  of  which you were the 

chairperson because that  could be hugely damaging,  

correct? 

MR MANTSHA :    True.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Of  course,  we know exact ly that  

exact ly that  type of  damage has happened to Denel  because 

of  the al legat ions of  State Capture,  not  so? 

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.   Chairperson,  just  to add on that .   The 

internal  protocol  of  the company.   There is a whist le-blower 

mechanism.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .    

MR MANTSHA :    There is  internal  audi t .   And of  course,  

Denel  operat ing in the envi ronment  i t  does,  where there are 

a lot  of  at tempts of  underhanded matters.   There are 20 

vigorous mechanisms to t ry to enforce non-corrupt  pract ises.    

 So internal ly,  the mechanism – he,  of  course,  did not  

even have to disc lose the whist le-b lower.   A very protect ive 

system within the company.   I t  would processed by Internal  

Audi t .    
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 Internal  Audi t  had outs ide people and al l  sorts of  th ings.   

Yes,  s ide act iv i t ies cannot be tolerated and we would not  

have to lerated i t  had we known an act iv i ty l ike that  indeed 

took place or i t  was reported to us.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    A l r ight .   Thank you.   May I  just  

conclude,  i f  I  may Chai r  wi th just  a quest ion or two on a 

further aspect  you have raised in  the opening statement.   

And that  is that  you yoursel f  d id not  receive anything 

improper f rom the Gupta’s or thei r  associates,  correct? 

MR MANTSHA :    Indeed correct .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And you did not  receive any 

inappropriate benef i t  f rom them? 

MR MANTSHA :    Correct ,  Chairperson.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And you complaint  that  fa lse 

al legat ions were made about your t ravel l ing overseas at  thei r  

expense and you told the Chai r,  as I  recal l  in your opening 

statement,  you did t ravel  a number of  t imes overseas in your  

off ic ia l  capaci ty as chai rperson but  that  was always at  your 

own expense,  correct? 

MR MANTSHA :    Wel l ,  Chairperson let  me just  correct .   I  d id 20 

not  t ravel  at  the ir  expense.  I  have t ravel led at  my own 

expense.   As far  as the – any benef i t  is concerned.   No 

benef i t  I  have received.   And those t ravel l ing that  he  is  

re fe r r i ng  about ,  I  d id  so  in  my own persona l  capac i ty.   The 

…[ in tervenes]  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    Your  persona l  capac i ty  o r  –  I  

unders tood you  ear l ie r  to  say,  I  may have wrong,  I  

unders tood you ear l ie r  to  say in  your  o f f i c ia l  capac i ty  as  

the  Cha i rperson.   Was i t  in  your  pe rsona l  capac i ty?  

MR MANTSHA :    Wel l ,  tha t  i s  abso lu te ly  very  wrong.   I  

th ink  I  was ve ry  spec i f i c .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  he  sa id  there  were  some tha t  he 

–  there  are  occas ions when he t rave l led  in  h is  pe rsona l  

capac i ty  …[ in tervenes]  

MR MANTSHA :    Indeed,  Cha i r.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    And there  were  occas ions when he  

t rave l led  in  h is  capac i ty  as  Cha i rperson o f  the  board .  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MANTSHA :    Indeed,  Cha i rperson.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Then I  m issed tha t  and I  apo log i se .   

As  I  say,  as  I  reca l l .   So  there  was some on your  own 

persona l  beha l f  and o thers  i n  your  o f f i c ia l  capac i ty  as  

Cha i rperson.   Le t  us  jus t  dea l  w i th  the  –  when you were  

t rave l l ing  in  your  o f f i c ia l  capac i ty.   P resumably  Dene l  20 

shou ld  have pa id  fo r  those costs ,  cor rec t?  

MR MANTSHA :    Wel l ,  they  have a lways covered those  

costs .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  they d id .   R igh t  and when you  

t rave l led  fo r  you r  own persona l  benef i t ,  who pa id  those 
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cos ts ,  the  t rave l  cos ts?  

MR MANTSHA :     I  have a lways covered my costs .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  you pa id  tha t  yourse l f .  

MR MANTSHA :    I  have covered my costs .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Okay,  can  I  take  you p lease in  the 

same bund le  8  to  page 465?  

CHAIRPERSON:    What  page?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    465.   Th i s  i s  an  invo ice ,  i t  appears ,  

where  Trave l  Exce l lence,  apparent ly  a  t rave l  agency,  was 

invo ic ing  West  Dawn Investmen ts  in  October  2015 fo r  10 

cer ta in  t rave l  a r rangements  on  Emi ra tes .   Now October  

2015 was a  few months a f te r  you assumed the  

Cha i rpersonsh ip  o f  Dene l ,  cor rec t?  

MR MANTSHA :    Indeed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t .   And th is  appears  to  invo ice  

West  Dawn Investments .   West  Dawn Investments  was a  

shareho lder  in  VR Laser,  cor rec t?  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    and West  Dawn Investments  was pa r t  

o f  the  Oakbay Group o f  compan ies ,  par t  o f  the  Gupta 20 

bus iness empi re ,  no t  so?  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes,  i t  seems so .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:     I t  seems so? 

MR MANTSHA :    Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    You cannot  d ispute  tha t ,  i s  tha t  
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r igh t?  

MR MANTSHA :    No,  no ,  no ,  I  am not  d isput ing  tha t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Okay.  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.   Can I  jus t  qua l i f y  the  ques t ion?  I  

knew tha t  West  Dawn …[ in tervenes ]  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Wel l ,  p lease do not  qua l i f y  my 

quest ion ,  you can  qua l i f y  your  answer.  

MR MANTSHA :    Okay.   No,  no ,  no ,  I  w i l l  qua l i f y  my  

answer.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  10 

MR MANTSHA :    Yes,  Cha i rperson,  I  knew in  December  

tha t  West  Dawn is  a  par t  o f  the  VR.   And how d id  I  know 

th is?   I  knew th is ,  Cha i rperson ,  as  a  resu l t  o f  a  due  

d i l igence repor t  wh ich  was conducted on VR in  the  process 

o f  the  work  o f  Dene l  As ia  who are  the  shareho lde rs ,  how 

much is  th is  sha reho lder  rece iv ing .   Yes,  I  knew.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  are  you say ing  –  you sa id  

December,  d id  you?  

MR MANTSHA :    December  2015.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    2015?  20 

MR MANTSHA :    Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    A re  you say ing  you on ly  learn t  fo r  the  

f i rs t  t ime in  December  2015 tha t  West  Dawn was invo lved  

in  VR Laser  and  tha t  the  Guptas  were  invo l ved in  West  

Dawn? 
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MR MANTSHA :    Wel l ,  Cha i rperson,  I  knew fo r  the  f i rs t  in  

2015 as  a  resu l t  o f  the  due d i l igence.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  I  am not  ask ing  you where  you  

got  tha t  f rom,  I  am jus t  t ry ing  to  –  indu lge  me,  p lease.  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I  w i l l  j us t  take  you s tep  by  s tep .  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    You d id  no t  know before  December  

2015 …[ in tervenes]  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    That  West  Dawn had an in te res t  in  

VR Laser  and tha t  the  Guptas had an in te res t  in  West  

Dawn.   

MR MANTSHA :    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So ,  in  o ther  words,  the  t ime tha t  th is  

invo i ce  was issued in  October  2015 you were  no t  aware  

tha t  West  Dawn had an in te res t  in .  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes,  Cha i r  …[ in te rvenes]  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Okay,  thank you.  

MR MANTSHA :    Cha i rperson,  can I  jus t  exp la in  about… 20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MANTSHA :    About  what  counse l  i s  ge t t ing  to .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    No,  Mr  Mantsha,  p lease,  you shou ld ,  

w i th  respect ,  know tha t  lawyers  tend to  …[ in tervenes]  
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MR CILLIERS :   Wi th  respect ,  Mr  Cha i rman,  the  wi tness has  

the  r igh t  to  exp la in  an  answer  and  tha t  i s  a l l  asked  and Mr  

Kennedy shou ld  [ inaudible – speaking simultaneously]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  I  th ink  the  prob lem,  Mr  C i l l i e rs ,  i s  

tha t  the  wi tness d id  no t  say  he  wanted to  exp la in  h is  

answer  to  th i s  quest ion ,  he  sa id  he  wants  to  exp la in  about  

I  th ink  where  he  is  ge t t ing  to ,  o r  someth ing  l i ke  tha t .   I  

th ink  tha t  i s  where  the  p rob lem l ies .   I f  he  wants  to  exp la in  

h is  answer  to  tha t  quest ion ,  i t  i s  f ine  and i f  then he la te r  

on  asks a  quest ion  tha t  he  th inks  where  he  is  go ing ,  then  10 

a t  tha t  t ime he can answer  and exp la in  and,  o f  course ,  in  

due course  in  re -examinat ion  you  can p ick  i t  up  and get  

h im to  exp la in  whatever  m ight  no t  have been c la r i f ied .   I  

th ink  –  un less  I  d id  no t  hear  h im  cor rec t ly,  I  th ink  tha t  i s  

where  the  prob lem is .   I f  he  wants  to  c la r i f y  h is  answer  to  

th is  quest ion ,  no  prob lem,  bu t  I  th ink  he  nods,  I  th ink  tha t  

i s  –  i f  tha t  i s  tha t ,  there  is  no  prob lem,  bu t  I  th ink  he  was 

say ing  I  th ink  I  know where  Mr  Kennedy is  go ing  and I  want  

to  c la r i f y  i t  be fore  he  gets  there .  

MR CILLIERS :   Bu t ,  Mr  Cha i r  …[ in te rvenes]  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  in  the  end  he w i l l  ge t  a  chance to  

c la r i f y  whatever  he  wants  to  c la r i f y,  i t  i s  jus t  a  quest ion  o f  

t im ing .  

MR CILLIERS :   Mr  Cha i r,  i f  I  may respond.   A wi tness has 

the  r igh t  to  pu t  an  answer  and/or  a  s i tua t ion  in  con tex t  and  
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I  know the re  i s  t ime const ra in ts  and i t  seems to  me Mr  

Kennedy a t tempts  to  ge t  to  cer ta in  po in t  be fore  we  have to  

take  the  ad jou rnment  bu t ,  w i th  g reat  respect ,  the  fac t  tha t  

we have l im i ted  t ime le f t ,  on ly  a  m inute  o r,  we are  a l ready  

over  ou t  t ime,  shou ld  no t  fo rce  a  s i tua t ion  where  the  

wi tness is  no t  a f fo rded a  fa i r  oppor tun i ty  to  pu t  in  contex t  

whatever  he  wants  to  pu t  in  contex t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Le t  me go back to  the  wi tness.   What  d id  

you want  to  do ,  Mr  Mantsha?  

MR MANTSHA :    Cha i rperson,  I  wanted to  g ive  contex t  10 

fo l low ing f rom the  answers  tha t  I  have g iven  wh ich  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    You wanted to  g ive  contex t  to  your  

answer?  

MR MANTSHA :    To  my answer.  

CHAIRPERSON:    To  the  quest ion .  

MR MANTSHA :    To  the  quest ion  tha t  was asked.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  al r ight .   I  th ink  you can do tha t .  

MR MANTSHA :    Ja .   And,  Cha i rperson,  what  I  am say ing  

here  is ,  as  fa r  as  West  Dawn is  concerned,  I  have a l ready 20 

exp la ined when d id  I  know tha t  they were  the  shareho lders  

bu t  in  te rms o f  my t rave l l ing  ar rangements ,  I  have ar ranged 

my t rave l l ing  th rough Ashu(?)  who runs a  s ide  bus iness 

and Ashu works  fo r  the  Guptas ,  he  runs a  s ide  t rave l  

bus iness.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  Ashu who?  

MR MANTSHA :    Ashu –  I  th ink  Ashu Trowler (?)   Someth ing  

l i ke  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Trowler.  

MR MANTSHA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

MR MANTSHA :    And how d id  th is  happened?  Th is  f i rs t  

happened w i th  my t r ip  to  Ind ia .   The f i rs t  t r ip  to  Ind ia  and I  

have ar ranged th rough h im,  he  to ld  me the  cost  and I  have  

se t t led  w i th  h im.   So the  in fo rmat ion  tha t  appears ,  West  10 

Dawn who or  what ,  o f  cou rse  fo r  the  f i rs t  t ime when these  

documents  are  g i ven to  me,  tha t  i s  where  I  see th i s .   So I  

cannot  say  how was he runn ing  h is  bus iness.   But  a l l  I  can  

say,  i s  I  pay  fo r  what  I  was supposed to  pay.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

MR MANTSHA :    And he was ass i s t ing  me wi th  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

MR MANTSHA :    So  but  I  cannot  rea l l y  take  the  Cha i rman 

any fu r the r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  20 

MR MANTSHA :    About  whether  West  Dawn or  no  West  

Dawn or  wh ich  account ,  I  cannot  take  the  Cha i rperson  

fu r the r.   

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  no ,  tha t  i s  f ine .   I  th ink  tha t  re la ted  

to  the  quest ion ,  i t  was a  contex t  to  the  quest ion .  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    We are  f i ve  past ,  Mr  Kennedy.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    A re  we a t… 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   Wou ld  th is  be  a  

conven ien t  t ime?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  I  th ink  we  shou ld  ad jou rn .   I  am 

sor ry  to  eve rybody tha t  we cannot  cont inue and f in i sh  bu t  I  

have spoken to  Mr  Kennedy and  to  Mr  C i l l i e rs ,  we w i l l  

make a r rangements  fo r  Mr  Mantsha to  come back  and to  10 

cont inue and f in ish .   That  w i l l  be  ar ranged in  due course .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you very  much,  we are  go ing  to  

ad journ  fo r  the  day.  

MR CILLIERS :    As  you p lease.  

CHAIRPERSON:    We ad journ .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS TO 16 NOVEMBER 2020  
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